
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

South Village 
Community Development District 

 
 

September 1, 2020 



South Village 
 Community Development District 

475 West Town Place, Suite 114 
Phone: 904-940-5850 - Fax: 904-940-5899 

 
August 26, 2020 
 
Board of Supervisors  
South Village Community 
Development District 
 
Dear Board Members: 
 
The regular meeting of the Board of Supervisors of the South Village Community Development 
District will be held Tuesday, September 1, 2020 at 6:30 p.m. at the Eagle Landing Residents 
Club, 3975 Eagle Landing Parkway, Orange Park, Florida 32065.  
Following is the advance agenda for this meeting: 
 
 I. Roll Call 
 II. Audience Comments 
 III. Approval of Minutes of the August 4, 2020 Meeting 
 IV. Update Regarding Open Items 
  A. State Attorney Investigation Regarding Fire Destruction of Trailer with Stored 

Pine Straw 
  B. Sidewalk Repairs/Completion 
  C. Additional Streetlights 
  D. Consideration of Proposals to Construct Replacement Weir 
 V. Update Regarding Phase 6 Construction Matters 
  A. Update Regarding West Bank Construction  
  B. Consideration of Series 2019 Requisitions (74 & 75) 
  C. Consideration of Change Orders  
 VI. Update Regarding Purchase of Cottages Parcel 
 VII. Ratification of Agreement for Security Patrol Services 
 VIII. Acceptance of Fiscal Year 2019 Audit Report 
 IX. Staff Reports 
  A. General Manager - Report 
  B. District Counsel 
  C. District Manager  
  D. District Engineer 
 X. Supervisor’s Requests  
 XI. Audience Comments 
 XII. Financial Reports 
 A.  Balance Sheet as of July 31, 2020 and Statement of Revenues and Expenses for 

the Period Ending July 31, 2020 
 B. Assessment Receipt Schedule 
 C. Approval of Check Register  
 XIII. Next Scheduled Meeting: 10/06/20 @ 6:30 p.m. @ Eagle Landing Residents Club 



2 

 XIV. Adjournment 
 
Enclosed for your review and approval is a copy of the minutes from the August 4, 2020 
meeting. 
 
The fourth order of business is update regarding open items.  Any support material will be sent 
under separate cover. 
 
The fifth order of business is update regarding Phase 6 construction matters.  Enclosed is a copy 
of Requisition No. 74 & No. 75. 
 
The seventh order of business is ratification of agreement for Security Patrol Services, which is 
enclosed for your review. 
 
The eighth order of business is acceptance of Fiscal Year 2019 audit report, which is enclosed 
for your review. 
 
Enclosed under the General Manager’s report is a memorandum. 
 
Enclosed for your review and approval is a copy of the balance sheet and income statement, 
assessment receipt schedule and check register. A copy of the golf & recreation financials will be 
sent under separate cover. 
 
The balance of the agenda is routine in nature and any additional support material will be 
presented and discussed at the meeting.  If you have any questions, please feel free to contact me. 
 
Sincerely, 
 
James Oliver 
James Oliver, District Manager  
 
cc: Katie Buchanan  Rachael Welch Keith Hadden 
 Jim Hahn  Bois Farrar  Batey McGraw  
 Matt Biagetti  Gabriel McKee Darrin Mossing    
     



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

AGENDA 
 



South Village 
Community Development District 

 
 

Tuesday Eagle Landing Residents Club  
September 1, 2020 3975 Eagle Landing Parkway  
6:30 p.m. Orange Park, Florida 32065 
 Call In # 1-800-264-8432 Code 537347 
 www.SouthVillageCDD.com 
  
 
 I. Roll Call 
 
 II. Audience Comments 
 
 III. Approval of Minutes of the August 4, 2020 Meeting 
 
 IV. Update Regarding Open Items 
  A. State Attorney Investigation Regarding Fire Destruction of Trailer with 

Stored Pine Straw 
  
  B. Sidewalk Repairs/Completion 
 
  C. Additional Streetlights 
 
  D. Consideration of Proposals to Construct Replacement Weir 
 
 V. Update Regarding Phase 6 Construction Matters 
  A. Update Regarding West Bank Construction  
 
  B. Consideration of Series 2019 Requisitions (74 & 75) 
 
  C. Consideration of Change Orders  
 
 VI. Update Regarding Purchase of Cottages Parcel 
 
 VII. Ratification of Agreement for Security Patrol Services 
 
 VIII. Acceptance of Fiscal Year 2019 Audit Report 
 
 IX. Staff Reports 
  A. General Manager - Report 
 
  B. District Counsel 
 
  C. District Manager  



  
  D. District Engineer 
  
 X. Supervisor’s Requests  
 
 XI. Audience Comments 
 
 XII. Financial Reports 
 A.  Balance Sheet as of July 31, 2020 and Statement of Revenues and 

Expenses for the Period Ending July 31, 2020 
 
 B. Assessment Receipt Schedule 
 
 C. Approval of Check Register  
 
 XIII. Next Scheduled Meeting: 10/06/20 @ 6:30 p.m. @ Eagle Landing Residents 

Club 
 
 XIV. Adjournment 
 
 
Board Oversight 
 

A. Chairman Payton – Gym/Tennis  
B.  Vice Chairman Krueger – Aquatics Center 
C.  Supervisor Hermening - Golf  
D.  Supervisor Randy Smith – Parks 
E.  Supervisor Rick Smith – Landscape Maintenance 



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

MINUTES 
 



SOUTH VILLAGE 
COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT 

 
 The regular meeting of the Board of Supervisors of the South Village Community 

Development District was held Tuesday, August 4, 2020 at 6:30 p.m. at the Eagle Landing 

Residents Club, 3975 Eagle Landing Parkway, Orange Park, Florida 

 

 Present and constituting a quorum were: 
 
 Chris Payton Chairman 
 Grant Krueger  Vice Chairman 
 Kelly Hermening Supervisor 
 Randy Smith Supervisor 
 Rick Smith Supervisor 
 
 Also present were: 
 
 Jim Oliver District Manager 
 Katie Buchanan District Counsel (by telephone) 
 Keith Hadden District Engineer 
 Jim Hahn General Manager, Honours Golf 
 Matt Biagetti Director of Operations, Honours Golf 
 Jason Merritt Hopping Green & Sams (by telephone) 
 Emma Gregory Hopping Green & Sams (by telephone) 
 Dean Vincent East West 
 
 The following is a summary of the actions taken at the August 4, 2020 meeting.  A copy 

of the proceedings can be obtained by contacting the District Manager. 

 
FIRST ORDER OF BUSINESS Roll Call 

 Mr. Oliver called the meeting to order at 6:30 p.m. and called the roll. 

 

SECOND ORDER OF BUSINESS Audience Comments  

 There being none, the next item followed. 

 

THIRD ORDER OF BUSINESS Affidavit of Publication 

 A copy of the affidavit of publication of the public hearing was included in the agenda 

package. 

 



August 4, 2020 South Village CDD 

2 

FOURTH ORDER OF BUSINESS Approval of the Minutes of the July 7, 2020 
Meeting 

 

On MOTION by Mr. Payton seconded by Mr. Krueger with all in 
favor the minutes of the July 7, 2020 meeting were approved as 
presented. 

 

FIFTH ORDER OF BUSINESS Acceptance of Minutes of the July 7, 2019 
Workshop 

 

On MOTION by Mr. Payton seconded by Mr. Krueger with all in 
favor the minutes of the July 7, 2019 workshop were accepted. 

 

SIXTH ORDER OF BUSINESS Update Regarding Open Items 

A. State Attorney Investigation Regarding Fire Destruction of Trailer with Stored 
Pine Straw 

 Mr. Hahn stated we have been in contact with Jason Kelley, who is handling the case in 

the state attorney’s office and he informed us that they feel they have enough evidence to charge 

one of the individuals involved, not all four.  He would not release any other information.  He 

asked if we were asking for any restitution and I told him we thought about $6,000 restitution, 

$4,500 for the trailer and $1,500 worth of pine straw.  Just because they charged one and not all 

four that doesn’t mean we can’t take action against the other people involved if they are residents.   

 I have also asked the gentleman to remove his trailer and he was going to get back to me.  

I told him our goal was to get it out of here immediately.   

 

B. Sidewalk Repair/Completion 

 Mr. Biagetti stated the AT&T box was moved out of the missing sidewalk section and 

Comcast drove by last night and they painted a little arrow from the box to move it closer to the 

road.  I haven’t heard back on the rest of them, but they are getting eyes on all of them.   

 Mr. Payton asked even if AT&T and Comcast moved the other boxes, who is going to pay 

to replace the sidewalks?  It is not CDD property.  I appreciate the effort, but then we are going to 

have holes in sidewalks that we caused and we don’t have a plan to fix those holes.  I think the 

board requested to have that one section that hasn’t been filled on Autumn Pines.  My 

understanding is that you have someone who will put in that portion of the sidewalk for free. 



August 4, 2020 South Village CDD 

3 

 Mr. Hadden stated I’m going to talk to one of the contractors that we have worked with 

and ask that when they are doing work over here to do that, it is a 30-minute fix. 

 

C. Additional Streetlights 

 Mr. Biagetti stated unfortunately the gentleman I was working with is out sick.   

 

D. Oakmont Easement 

 Mr. Payton stated you and I both need to sign that and have it notarized and we can do that 

here in the office.  Thanks for sharing that amendment, none of us have seen that in all the years 

we have lived here and all the easement encroachments we have approved, probably weren’t 

necessary.   

 

E. Storm Drains Cleanout 

 Mr. Hahn stated at the last meeting we were asked if there were any issues related to storm 

drain cleanout, is it an ongoing problem or have they been maintained over the years.  We had a 

company come out and give a cost to blow out all the exits and entrances into our lakes and it is 

about $8,000.  We have Lake Doctors checking all our exit points on every lake and it is in their 

monthly report and they verify they are clear and there are no problems with any of those.  Matt 

and Scott also check it on a monthly basis and other than one time we had a slow drain, we haven’t 

had any issues.  I don’t think we need to have them all blown out.   

 

F. Weir Repair Options 

 Mr. Hadden stated we will clean up the part of the weir that is still there and reconstruct 

the part that is blown out.  I will put in a grid of concrete rebar and change the number of bleeddown 

pipes.  Because it is such a small job I only received one proposal and it is very high.  You can 

approve a not to exceed amount and authorize one supervisor to work with staff to negotiate the 

contract.   

 Mr. Payton stated I prefer to wait and talk to more contractors rather than approving a not 

to exceed amount.   

 Mr. Hadden will advertise and have bids available for consideration at the next meeting. 

 



August 4, 2020 South Village CDD 

4 

 The next item taken out of order. 

EIGHTH ORDER OF BUSINESS Update Regarding Terms of Draft Agreement 
to Purchase Cottages Parcel 

  Ms. Buchanan stated earlier today we circulated an updated contract incorporating 

the March 1st closing date that we think is generally better for the district.  I will go through the 

deal points and then we can talk about it and ask any questions. 

 This form of agreement contemplates that on March 1, 2021we would close on the Cottage 

lots, which is the tract of land that you understand to be the Cottage lots but will also include the 

adjacent pond area.  The purchase price is $438,000.  Initially it was offered for sale for $638,000, 

which is roughly equal to $370,000 based on the appraisal plus the approximate $318,000 

necessary to pay off the special assessments.  They also contemplated that part of the purchase 

price could be comprised of $200,000 contribution paid by the HOA to the CDD and from the 

CDD to the seller.  This agreement does not provide for this flow of funds, but it does include a 

condition that unless at or before closing the HOA pays that $200,000 to the developer, the 

developer is not obligated to sell the property to the CDD.  Because the $200,000 isn’t included, 

the purchase price is reduced from the negotiated $638,000 to $438,000.   

 One of the additional clauses requested was a deposit of $25,000 that would go to their 

closing agent, which is Mr. Tom Carr.  At closing on March 1st, the CDD would pay $300,000 

against which the deposit would be credited.  The reason for the March 1st closing is that it enables 

the CDD to be fully collected for the upcoming fiscal year, meaning you are going to have the bulk 

of your tax bill money in hand by March 1st and that will allow you to use the money you’ve 

previously set aside and the money you’ve allocated in next year’s budget.  The balance of the 

purchase price less the $300,000 would be in the form of a note from the developer to the CDD so 

that the CDD would then owe the developer the balance of the purchase price and then an 

additional 5% interest on top of that balance.  The 5% interest rate was proposed by East West. I 

informally spoke with a  commercial lender and commercial real estate lawyer and neither found 

5% to be an unreasonable interest rate.   

 The inspection period runs for 90 days and that will give the CDD the time to do the due 

diligence.The one thing I will point out is if we choose to terminate the contract during the 

inspection period then the CDD would be responsible for the due diligence costs.  The only other 

point to add is the closing date of March 1st for the reasons we discussed, the conditions of closing 

in section 5 would include a warranty deed, execution of the assignment of and assumption of the 



August 4, 2020 South Village CDD 

5 

development rights, a title statement, the estoppel letters from the CDD relating to the assessments 

and how they are going to be divvied out, and representation and warranty with the seller that the 

contract.  These are standard documents. 

 The last thing would be the conditions for closing:  payment by the HOA of $200,000 to 

the seller  and a change to the due date for the debt service assessments on the Cottage lots.  Your 

indenture requires that you collect your debt for assessments 30 days before debt service payments 

are required to be made to the trustee.  The trustee requires that those payments are due on May 

1st so we could move the debt service assessment due date to April 1st . The benefit to the Sellers 

is that is that they won’t have to make an incremental annual debt service payment.  

 Mr. Merritt stated as currently drafted if the seller and HOA does not reach an agreement 

regarding the payment of the $200,000 contribution the seller would have the right to terminate 

the contract, they would not be obligated to sell the property for the $438,000.  There would be 

out of pocket costs the CDD would have incurred and there currently is not a provision in the 

contract to refute those costs.  There would be some exposure to the CDD for certain out of pocket 

costs. 

 Mr. Randy Smith asked would it be unusual to include those out of pocket costs if 

something doesn’t come through between the HOA and the developer? 

 Mr. Merritt stated I don’t think it would be unusual oftentimes when we have conditions 

like this there is a little bit of back and forth on the part of the parties, the seller would likely say 

this is something outside their control they don’t want to be potentially on the hook for what they 

might regard as an excessive amount of costs.   

 Mr. Randy Smith asked is there an estimate of what that might be? 

 Mr. Merritt responded it may be in the range of $15,000 to $25,000. 

  

 Mr. Vincent stated understand I did not propose the $200,000 as a structure, your attorney 

proposed to us from a standpoint that it would make it easy for you and I’m all about easy, but I 

don’t like the direction are we going to structure the deal with the HOA.  We presented this in the 

last week and said it would work better for you if you could get the $200,000 directly from the 

HOA and I’m sitting here thinking we haven’t even explored this.  We have to go to the HOA and 

make a deal and we are more than willing to go to them and start to engage their counsel, but that 

is part of what a due diligence period is about.  Due diligence from your side and due diligence 



August 4, 2020 South Village CDD 

6 

from our side.  In terms of costs we have already done the survey, we presented the survey some 

time ago and we continue to resurvey and I have absorbed the cost of that.  That is not going to 

cost you.  Specifically your costs at this point is what you are going to spend on Phase 1, which is 

not a lot of money on a raw piece of land that has been out there for a long time.  I pay for these 

all the time.  You don’t have to do a title search on it because you need to get clear title.  Those 

two are the biggest expenses with whatever you choose to pay your corporate attorney to do their 

work.  We have been providing this information all along and we would provide that information 

during the due diligence.  We were asked to do this, we will engage with the HOA along this route.  

The second point I really have to make is we came to the $638,000 prior to us making the O&M 

for 2019 and 50% at the end of last year and then the two installments this year.  It is being 

suggested that the price goes down based on what we have already paid and we will talk about 

that.  I have asked that the number be confirmed, but I’m not certain why the $638,000 goes down 

only as a result of the outstanding debt service assessments.   

 Mr. Rick Smith stated I’m in favor of the HOA spending up to $200,000 in projects and 

we would not spend that money so we would have that money to apply towards the purchase price. 

 Mr. Payton stated at the last board meeting the discussion between us and it was suggested 

by Grant that the HOA could reimburse them for the park, their activities in the park thereby 

reducing their costs to the park and reducing our costs here.  I have spoken with a member of the 

HOA board so should the agreement between East West and the HOA fall through there is a backup 

plan that the HOA could directly give us $200,000.  The board voted to purchase the property for 

$320,000 plus the payoff amount.  We didn’t agree to purchase it for $638,000, we agreed to 

purchase it for $320,000 plus the payoff.   

 Mr. Vincent stated to me that is not a deal breaker.   

 Mr. Oliver stated it has to change because the original closing date was set for December 

1st because the deal was that East West was not going to make any assessment payments beyond 

FY 20, this current year and that is the way Katie has structured the latest version of the deal with 

no assessments to be collected before the March 31st closing so nothing has changed there at all.  

The debt payoff was always an estimate because you have to have a precise date because of interest 

earnings to know what the payoff is going to be.  It didn’t change at all the only thing is it has been 

solidified because we are honing on an exact date.  This has not changed a bit.   



August 4, 2020 South Village CDD 

7 

 Mr. Vincent stated if you look at the tax bill we have been paying for years, what this parcel 

and the pond are, is what I have sent you from the standpoint of the physical survey we have done 

but it also includes a lot of acreage in conservation easements.  They have always been out there 

and it is the rest of our holdings and we are researching that in such a way to where that is deeded 

over to you as well.  It is to clean up the whole tax situation.  There is a lot of acreage so when you 

get this and we get through the due diligence that is the conservation easements that are still in 

place.   

 Mr. Payton asked does the board have any issue with the closing date?  Is there any issue 

in paying $25,000 in escrow to their closing agent?  Any other issues with their response to the 

contract?  What do we need to do regarding the contract since it seems we are in acceptance of 

their updates? 

 

On MOTION by Mr. Payton seconded by Mr. Krueger with all in 
favor the purchase contract for the Cottages parcel was approved with 
a closing date of March 31, 2021, $300,000 due at closing balance of 
approximately $138,000 due March 31, 2022, seller to hold note at 
5% interest rate, terms to include due diligence period. 

 

SEVENTH ORDER OF BUSINESS Update Regarding Phase 6 Construction 
Matters 

A. Update Regarding West Bank Construction 

 Mr. Vincent updated the board on the Phase 6 subdivision construction, the large park and 

the pocket parks, landscape installation and monument signs.   

 

B. Consideration of Series 2019 Requisitions 

  

On MOTION by Mr. Payton seconded by Mr. Kreuger with all in 
favor Requisitions 70 - 73 were ratified. 

 

C. Consideration of Change Orders 

 

On MOTION by Mr. Payton seconded by Mr. Kreuger with all in 
favor change orders 8 and 9 with Baker Construction were approved. 

 



August 4, 2020 South Village CDD 

8 

NINTH ORDER OF BUSINESS Ratification of Approval of Agreement for 
Security Patrol Services 

 This item deferred. 

 

TENTH ORDER OF BUSINESS Consideration of Resolution 2020-09 
Accepting Contribution in Lieu of Capital 
Assessments 

 Ms. Buchanan stated the resolution in your agenda package goes through the history of 

those transactions on the Phase 5 property in the amount of $1,990,000, that is the $10,000 per lot 

assessment.  The assessments were intended to fund a portion of the improvements related to Phase 

5, specifically for the 5B improvements.  To date Dream Finders has paid $960,000 and the district 

has in turn used that money to partially fund the 5B improvements that Dream Finders is 

constructing.  I feel very comfortable that $1.8 million in infrastructure has been constructed in 

Phase 5B.  Keith is in the process of evaluating whether there is an additional $184,961 that would 

then completely eliminate the capital assessments.  You can table this pending Keith’s 

determination that the total amount has been contributed or you could approve it in the amount we 

feel comfortable at, which is approximately $1.8 million, that would leave Dream Finders to 

continue to collect that $10,000 at each lot closing until that deficit is made up.  That being said 

we could come back with a supplemental resolution to acknowledge the other $184,961.  I assume 

Keith is not ready to make that determination yet. 

 Mr. Hadden stated correct.  I am in the process but haven’t finished it yet.  I would love to 

hold 18 lots worth at $10,000 per lot, that amount in the interim.  I have no problem returning the 

other money.   

 Mr. Payton stated aside from signs, roadway improvements are complete except for the top 

layer of asphalt which goes in next year.  It is not like they are not going to do that; the county 

requires that.   

 Mr. Hadden stated they had to post a bond for that. 

 Mr. Randy Smith stated I don’t see why we wouldn’t hold the $180,000. 

 Mr. Payton stated we are going with that option, approve the $1.8 million to release and 

continue to collect the rest for now. 

 Ms. Buchanan stated okay, the blanks will be filled in with $1,805,039. 

 



August 4, 2020 South Village CDD 

9 

On MOTION by Mr. Payton seconded by Mr. Randy Smith with all 
in favor Resolution 2020-09 was approved as amended. 

 

 Ms. Buchanan stated one point of clarification if Keith is able to make a determination on 

the balance of the $184,961 I would like the board to feel comfortable and understand that we will 

no longer need to collect that $10,000 at closing even though we may not adopt another resolution 

until the next board meeting.  I don’t want us to over collect.   

 

ELEVENTH ORDER OF BUSINESS Public Hearing Adopting the Budget for 
Fiscal Year 2021 

 Mr. Oliver stated the budget is essentially the same budget you reviewed in June and July. 

The per unit assessments stay the same; we just have more units this year and more assessment 

funds to work with.  The general fund budget stays essentially the same at $182,000. Total 

expenditures and community appearance is up about $36,000, due to maintenance of the additional 

common areas.  The next page shows the assessment tables showing the assessment rates stay the 

same amd platted lots increasing from  1,332 to 1,494.  Following the general fund budget are  line 

item descriptions and the various debt service funds for the series 2016 A1, A2 and A3 bonds and  

the Series 2019 bonds for West Bank. These fund the semi-annual interest payments and principal 

payment for each debt service funds.  The last several pages are the budgets for the golf fund, 

recreation fund and the capital reserve fund.  As Jim and Matt described at the previous meeting, 

both the golf fund and recreation fund are forecast to generate operating surpluses at the end of the 

Fiscal Year 2020/2021.   

 

On MOTION by Mr. Payton seconded by Mr. Krueger with all in 
favor the public hearing was opened. 

 

 There being no comments or questions from the public on the budget, the board took the 

following actions. 

 

On MOTION by Mr. Payton seconded by Mr. Krueger with all in 
favor the public hearing was closed. 

 



August 4, 2020 South Village CDD 

10 

A. Consideration of Resolution 2020-10 Relating to the Annual Appropriations and 
Adopting the Budget for Fiscal Year 2021 

 

On MOTION by Mr. Payton seconded by Mr. Krueger with all in 
favor Resolution 2020-10 was approved. 

 

B. Consideration of Resolution 2020-11 Imposing Special Assessments and 
Certifying an Assessment Roll for Fiscal Year 2021 

 

On MOTION by Mr. Payton seconded by Mr. Krueger with all in 
favor Resolution 2020-11 was approved. 

 

C. Consideration of Agreement for Direct Collection of Special Assessments for 
Fiscal Year 2020/2021 

 

On MOTION by Mr. Payton seconded by Mr. Krueger with all in 
favor the direct collection agreement was approved. 

 

TWELFTH ORDER OF BUSINESS Staff Reports 

A. General Manager - Report 

 A copy of the operations report was included as part of the agenda package and included 

the operations of the amenity center, athletic center, tennis facility, golf and clubhouse operations, 

common areas and retention ponds and landscaping. 

 

 B. District Counsel  

 There being none, the next item followed 

 

 C. District Manager – Discussion of Proposed Meeting Schedule for Fiscal Year 
2021 

 

On MOTION by Mr. Payton seconded by Mr. Krueger with all in 
favor the fiscal year 2021 meeting schedule reflecting meetings on 
the first Tuesday of the month at 6:30 p.m. was approved. 

 

THIRTEENTH ORDER OF BUSINESS Supervisor’s Requests  



August 4, 2020 South Village CDD 

11 

 The following issues were brought up and discussed: the rower in the athletic center is 

broken, retain same guest policies given the pandemic, irrigation line by the bathroom is not yet 

fixed, possibility of using range fee money on range improvements rather than capital reserve, 

reminder to residents of golf cart registration, classes for proper operation of golf carts, if trail 

sticker had a number there would no need for another registration sticker, shower heads drip, café 

to maintain normal schedule, Tuesday and Thursday program schedules, double billing issue taken 

care of, damage caused by army worms to #17 tee and other areas will be re-sodded with shade 

tolerant sod, the back range has not been cut as consistently as other tees, clean up #10, take better 

care of the bunkers, need better drainage between 1 tee box and 10, district counsel to prepare cost 

share agreement with Armstrong CDD for pond maintenance, possibility of creating tennis 

membership for non-residents in the future and an update on PGA certification process for staff, 

hydraulic leaks on golf course, golf course superintendent to prepare of list of equipment to be 

purchased, beverage cart. 

 

FOURTEENTH ORDER OF BUSINESS Audience Comments 

 There being none, the next item followed.  

 

FIFTEENTH ORDER OF BUSINESS Financial Reports 

A. Balance Sheet as of June 30, 2020 and Statement of Revenues and Expenses for 
the Period Ending June 30, 2020 

 The balance sheet and income statement were included as part of the agenda package. 

 

B. Assessment Receipt Schedule 

 The assessment receipt Schedule was included as part of the agenda package. 

 

C. Approval of Check Register 

 

On MOTION by Mr. Payton seconded by Mr. Randy Smith with all 
in favor the check register was approved. 

 

SIXTEENTH ORDER OF BUSINESS Next Meeting Scheduled for Tuesday, 
September 1, 2020 at 6:30 p.m. at Eagle 
Landing Residents Club 



August 4, 2020 South Village CDD 

12 

 Mr. Oliver stated the nest meeting is scheduled for September 1, 2020 at 6:30 p.m. 

 

On MOTION by Mr. Payton seconded by Mr. Krueger with all in 
favor the meeting adjourned at 9:24 p.m. 

 
 
 
 
 
    
Secretary/Assistant Secretary  Chairman/Vice Chairman 
 
 



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

FIFTH ORDER OF BUSINESS 
  



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 

B. 























 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

SEVENTH ORDER OF BUSINESS 
  











 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

EIGHTH ORDER OF BUSINESS 
  



South Village 
Community Development District 

 
ANNUAL FINANCIAL REPORT 

 
September 30, 2019 

 
 



 

 

South Village Community Development District 
 

ANNUAL FINANCIAL REPORT 
 

September 30, 2019 
 

TABLE OF CONTENTS 
 
 

  Page 
  Number 
 

 
REPORT OF INDEPENDENT AUDITORS 1-2 
 
MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS 3-8 
 
BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 Government-wide Financial Statements 
  Statement of Net Position 9 
  Statement of Activities 10 
 Fund Financial Statements 
  Balance Sheet – Governmental Funds 11 
  Reconciliation of Total Governmental Fund Balances 
   to Net Position of Governmental Activities 12 
  Statement of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in 
   Fund Balances – Governmental Funds 13 
  Reconciliation of the Statement of Revenues, Expenditures  
   and Changes in Fund Balances of Governmental Funds 
   to the Statement of Activities 14 
  Statement of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund 
   Balances – Budget and Actual – General Fund 15 
  Statement of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund 
   Balances – Budget and Actual – Recreation Fund 16 
  Statement of Fund Net Position – Enterprise Fund 17 
  Statement of Revenues, Expenses and Changes in Fund 
   Net Position – Enterprise Fund 18 
  Statement of Cash Flows – Enterprise Fund 19 
 
 Notes to Financial Statements 20-37 
 
INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT ON INTERNAL CONTROL OVER  
      FINANCIAL REPORTING AND ON COMPLIANCE AND OTHER MATTERS  
      BASED ON AN AUDIT OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS PERFORMED IN  
      ACCORDANCE WITH GOVERNMENT AUDITING STANDARDS                              38-39 
 
MANAGEMENT LETTER 40-41 
 
INDEPENDENT ACCOUNTANT’S REPORT/COMPLIANCE WITH 
      SECTION 218.415, FLORIDA STATUTES                                                                     42 
 



- 1 -

REPORT OF INDEPENDENT AUDITORS 

To the Board of Supervisors 
South Village Community Development District 
Clay County, Florida 

Report on the Financial Statements 

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of South Village Community 
Development District as of and for the year ended September 30, 2019, and the related notes to 
financial statements, which collectively comprise the District’s basic financial statements as 
listed in the table of contents. 

Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements 

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial 
statements in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of 
America; this includes the design, implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant 
to the preparation and fair presentation of financial statements that are free from material 
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

Auditor’s Responsibility 

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit.  
We conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United 
States of America and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government 
Accounting Standards, issued by the Comptroller General of the United States.  Those 
standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about 
whether the financial statements are free from material misstatement. 

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and 
disclosures in the financial statements.  The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s 
judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial 
statements, whether due to fraud or error.  In making those risk assessments, the auditor 
considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair presentation of the 
financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the 
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the 
entity’s internal control.  Accordingly, we express no such opinion.  An audit also includes 
evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of 
significant accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall 
presentation of the financial statements. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a 
basis for our audit opinion. 



To the Board of Supervisors 
South Village Community Development District 
 

- 2 -  

Opinion 
 
In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, 
the respective financial position of the governmental activities, business-type activities, and 
each major fund of the South Village Community Development District as of September 30, 
2019, and the respective changes in financial position and cash flows for the Enterprise Fund 
and the budgetary comparison for the General and Special Revenue Funds for the year then 
ended in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of 
America. 
 
Other Matters 
 
Required Supplementary Information 
 
Accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America require that the 
Management’s Discussion and Analysis be presented to supplement the basic financial 
statements.  Such information, although not a part of the basic financial statements, is required 
by Governmental Accounting Standards Board who considers it to be an essential part of 
financial reporting for placing the basic financial statements in an appropriate operational, 
economic, or historical context.  We have applied certain limited procedures in accordance with 
governmental auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America, which 
consisted principally of inquires of management regarding the methods of preparing the 
information and comparing the information for consistency with management’s responses to our 
inquiries, the basic financial statements, and other knowledge we obtained during our audit of 
the basic financial statements.  We do not express an opinion or provide any assurance on the 
information because the limited procedures do not provide us with sufficient evidence to express 
an opinion or provide any assurance. 
 
Other Reporting Required by Government Auditing Standards 
 
In accordance with Government Auditing Standards, we have also issued a report dated August 
26, 2020 on our consideration of the District’s internal control over financial reporting and on our 
tests of its compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations and contracts. 
 
The purpose of that report is to describe the scope of our testing of internal control over financial 
reporting and compliance and the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on 
internal control over financial reporting or on compliance.  That report is an integral part of an 
audit performed in accordance with Government Auditing Standards in considering South 
Village Community Development District’s internal control over financial reporting and 
compliance. 
 

 
 
 

Berger, Toombs, Elam, Gaines & Frank 
Certified Public Accountants PL 
Fort Pierce, Florida 
 
August 26, 2020 

audit
BTEGF



South Village Community Development District 
MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS 

For the Year Ended September 30, 2019 
 
 

- 3 - 

Management’s discussion and analysis of South Village Community Development District’s (the 
“District”) financial performance provides an objective and easily readable analysis of the 
District’s financial activities.  The analysis provides summary financial information for the District 
and should be read in conjunction with the District’s financial statements.  
 
OVERVIEW OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 
The District’s basic financial statements comprise three components; 1) Government-wide 
financial statements, 2) Fund financial statements, and 3) Notes to financial statements.  The 
Government-wide financial statements present an overall picture of the District’s financial 
position and results of operations.  The Fund financial statements present financial information 
for the District’s major funds.  The Notes to financial statements provide additional information 
concerning the District’s finances.  
 
The Government-wide financial statements are the statement of net position and the 
statement of activities.  These statements use accounting methods similar to those used by 
private-sector companies.  Emphasis is placed on the net position of governmental activities 
and business-type activities and the change in net position.  Governmental activities are 
primarily supported by special assessments.  Business-type activities are supported by charges 
to the users of those activities, such as golf course and restaurant service charges. 
 
The statement of net position presents information on all assets and liabilities of the District, 
with the difference between assets and liabilities reported as net position.  Net position is 
reported in three categories; 1) net investment in capital assets, 2) restricted and 3) 
unrestricted.  Assets, liabilities, and net position are reported for all Governmental activities 
separate from the assets, liabilities, and net position of business-type activities. 
 
The statement of activities presents information on all revenues and expenses of the District 
and the change in net position.  Expenses are reported by major function and program revenues 
relating to those functions are reported, providing the net cost of all functions provided by the 
District.  To assist in understanding the District’s operations, expenses have been reported as 
governmental activities or business-type activities.  Governmental activities financed by the 
District include general government, physical environment, culture/recreation, and debt service.  
Business-type activities financed by user charges include golf course and restaurant services. 
 
Fund financial statements present financial information for governmental funds and the 
enterprise fund.  These statements provide financial information for the major funds of the 
District.  Governmental fund financial statements provide information on the current assets and 
liabilities of the funds, changes in current financial resources (revenues and expenditures), and 
current available resources.  The enterprise fund financial statements provide information on all 
assets and liabilities of the funds, changes in the economic resources (revenues and expenses), 
and total economic resources. 
 



South Village Community Development District 
MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS 

For the Year Ended September 30, 2019 
 
 

- 4 - 

OVERVIEW OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 
Fund financial statements include a balance sheet and a statement of revenues, 
expenditures and changes in fund balances for all governmental funds.  A statement of 
revenues, expenditures, and changes in fund balances – budget and actual is provided for 
the District’s General Fund and Special Revenue Fund.  For the enterprise fund, a statement of 
fund net position, a statement of revenues, expenses, and changes in fund net position; 
and a statement of cash flows are presented.  Fund financial statements provide more 
detailed information about the District’s activities.  Individual funds are established by the District 
to track revenues that are restricted to certain uses or to comply with legal requirements. 
 
The government-wide financial statements and the fund financial statements provide different 
pictures of the District.  The government-wide financial statements provide an overall picture of 
the District’s financial standing, split between Governmental Activities and Business-type 
Activities.  These statements are comparable to private-sector companies and give a good 
understanding of the District’s overall financial health and how the District paid for the various 
activities, or functions, provided by the District.  All assets of the District, including land and 
improvements are reported in the statement of net position.  All liabilities, including principal 
outstanding on bonds are included.  The statement of activities includes depreciation on all 
long lived assets of the District, but transactions between the different functions of the District 
have been eliminated in order to avoid “doubling up” the revenues and expenses.  The fund 
financial statements provide a picture of the major funds of the District.  In the case of 
governmental activities, outlays for long lived assets are reported as expenditures and long-term 
liabilities, such as general obligation bonds, are not included in the fund financial statements.  
To provide a link from the fund financial statements to the government-wide financial 
statements, a reconciliation is provided from the fund financial statements to the government-
wide financial statements. 
 
Notes to financial statements provide additional detail concerning the financial activities and 
financial balances of the District.  Additional information about the accounting practices of the 
District, investments of the District, capital assets and long-term debt are some of the items 
included in the notes to financial statements. 
 
Financial Highlights 
 
The following are the highlights of financial activity for the year ended September 30, 2019: 
 

♦ The District’s total liabilities exceeded total assets by $(7,815,725) (net position).  Net 
investment in capital assets for Governmental Activities was $(6,090,553).  Net 
investment in capital assets for Business-type Activities was $2,540,174.  Unrestricted 
net position for Governmental Activities was $(4,624,717) and for Business-type 
Activities was $60,188.  Restricted net position for Governmental Activities was 
$299,183. 
 
 



South Village Community Development District 
MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS 

For the Year Ended September 30, 2019 
 
 

- 5 - 

OVERVIEW OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 
Financial Highlights (Continued) 

 
♦ Governmental activities revenues totaled $4,872,817, while governmental activities 

expenses totaled $3,920,404.  Business-type Activities revenues totaled $2,909,862 
while Business-type Activities expenses totaled $3,086,150.  

 
Financial Analysis of the District 
 
The following schedule provides a summary of the assets, liabilities and net position of the 
District and is presented by category for comparison purposes.   
 

Net Position 
 

2019 2018 2019 2018 2019 2018

Current assets 1,049,175$       678,907$          293,871$        424,079$       1,343,046$       1,102,986$       
Restricted assets 5,170,531         2,223,160         -                      -                     5,170,531         2,223,160         
Capital assets, net 13,899,800       11,561,514       2,540,174       2,602,958      16,439,974       14,164,472       

Total Assets 20,119,506       14,463,581       2,834,045       3,027,037      22,953,551       17,490,618       

Deferred outflows 214,677            228,453            -                      -                     214,677            228,453            

Current liabilities 2,452,486         1,379,656         233,683          250,387         2,686,169         1,630,043         
Non-current liabilities 28,297,784       24,680,878       -                      -                     28,297,784       24,680,878       

Total Liabilities 30,750,270       26,060,534       233,683          250,387         30,983,953       26,310,921       

Net Position
  Net investment in 
    capital assets (6,090,553)       (5,376,233)       2,540,174       2,602,958      (3,550,379)       (2,773,275)       
  Restricted 299,183            1,071,152         -                      -                     299,183            1,071,152         
  Unrestricted (4,604,717)       (7,063,419)       40,188            173,692         (4,564,529)       (6,889,727)       

Total Net Position (10,396,087)$   (11,368,500)$   2,580,362$     2,776,650$    (7,815,725)$     (8,591,850)$     

Governmental Activities Business-type Activities Total

The decrease in current assets for business-type activities is primarily related to the current year 
net loss. 
 
The increase in current assets for governmental activities is primarily related to the increase in 
cash and investments related to the positive change in fund balance in the General Fund in the 
current year. 
 
The increase in restricted assets for governmental activities is primarily related to the issuance 
of new debt in the current year. 
 
The increase in current and non-current liabilities for governmental activities is primarily related 
to the new bonds issued in the current year. 
 



South Village Community Development District 
MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS 

For the Year Ended September 30, 2019 
 
 

- 6 - 

OVERVIEW OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 
Financial Analysis of the District (Continued) 
 
The following schedule provides a summary of the changes in net position of the District and is 
presented by category for comparison purposes.  
 

Change in Net Position 
 

2019 2018 2019 2019 2018
Program Revenues

Charges for services 4,743,394$      4,271,360$      2,886,999$   2,689,060$   7,630,393$     6,960,420$      
General Revenues

Investment earnings 100,422           28,411             -                    -                    100,422          28,411             
Miscellaneous 29,001             16,983             22,863          2,969            51,864            19,952             

Total Revenues 4,872,817        4,316,754        2,909,862     2,692,029     7,782,679       7,008,783        

Expenses
General government 143,566           182,869           -                    -                    143,566          182,869           
Physical environment 734,276           626,149           -                    -                    734,276          626,149           
Culture/recreation 1,526,641        1,317,816        -                    -                    1,526,641       1,317,816        
Interest and other charges 1,515,921        1,093,652        -                    -                    1,515,921       1,093,652        
Golf course -                       -                       2,480,051     2,157,982     2,480,051       2,157,982        
Restaurant -                       -                       606,099        535,880        606,099          535,880           

Total Expenses          3,920,404          3,220,486       3,086,150      2,693,862        7,006,554          5,914,348 

Change in Net Position             952,413          1,096,268        (176,288)            (1,833)           776,125          1,094,435 

Net Position - Beginning of Year (11,368,500)     (12,464,768)     2,776,650     2,778,483     (8,591,850)      (9,686,285)       
Net Position - End of Year (10,416,087)$   (11,368,500)$   2,600,362$   2,776,650$   (7,815,725)$    (8,591,850)$     

Governmental  Activities TotalBusiness-type Activities
2018

The increase in governmental activities charges for services is primarily the result of an increase 
in assessments and debt service prepayments at the fund level. 
 
The increase in culture/recreation expenses is related to an increase in contract labor in the 
current year. 
 
The increase in interest and other charges is related to the interest and other charges 
associated with the new debt in the current year. 
 
The increase in business-type activities charges for services is related to increased greens fees 
and food sales. 
 
The increase in golf course expenses is related to an increase in cost of goods sold and 
contract labor expenses. 



South Village Community Development District 
MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS 

For the Year Ended September 30, 2019 
 
 

- 7 - 

OVERVIEW OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 
Capital Assets Activity 
 
The following schedule provides a summary of the District’s capital assets as of September 30, 
2019. 
 

Description
Governmental 

Activities
Business-Type 

Activities Total

Land -$                    1,359,781$       1,359,781$      
Construction in progress 2,901,502        2,040                2,903,542        
Infrastructure 5,283,667        405,000            5,688,667        
Recreation facilities 11,607,239      738,577            12,345,816      
Equipment 197,945           219,973            417,918           
Accumulated depreciation (6,090,553)       (185,197)          (6,275,750)       

     Total Capital Assets (Net) 13,899,800$    2,540,174$       16,439,974$    

 
The governmental activities changes in the current year include depreciation of $714,320, 
capital asset additions in construction in progress, $2,901,502, and recreational facilities, 
$151,104. 
 
Business-type activities changes in the current year include depreciation of $60,116. 
 
General Fund Budgetary Highlights 
 
The budget exceeded actual expenditures for the year mostly due to lower legal fees and 
utilities expenditures than were anticipated. 
 
The budget was amended during the year to reduce personnel costs and establish transfers out. 
 



South Village Community Development District 
MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS 

For the Year Ended September 30, 2019 
 
 

- 8 - 

OVERVIEW OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 
Debt Management 
 
Governmental Activities debt includes the following: 
 

♦ In June 2016, the District issued $17,075,000 Capital Improvement Revenue and 
Refunding Bonds, Series 2016A-1, $5,480,000 Capital Improvement Revenue and 
Refunding Bonds, Series 2016A-2, and $5,530,000 Capital Improvement Revenue and 
Refunding Bonds, Series 2016A-3.  These bonds were issued to finance the acquisition 
and construction of certain improvements for the benefit of the District and to refund the 
Series 2005A Bonds.  The balance outstanding at September 30, 2019 was $15,160,000 
for the A-1 bond, $4,895,000 for the A-2 bond and $4,715,000 for the A-3 bond. 
 

♦ In January 2019, the District issued $3,255,000 Capital Improvement Revenue Bonds, 
Series 2019A and $1,700,000 Capital Improvement Revenue Bonds, Series 2019B. The 
bonds were issued to finance the acquisition and construction of the Series 2019 
Project. The balance outstanding at September 30, 2019 was $3,255,000 for the Series 
2019A Bonds and $1,700,000 for the Series 2019B Bonds. 
 

Economic Factors and Next Year’s Budget 
 
South Village Community Development District expects to continue the 2019 capital project in 
fiscal year 2020. 
 
Request for Information 
 
The financial report is designed to provide a general overview of South Village Community 
Development District’s finances for all those with an interest.  Questions concerning any of the 
information provided in this report or requests for additional information should be addressed to 
the South Village Community Development District, GMS-SF, LLC, 5385 N Nob Hill Road, 
Sunrise, Florida, 33351. 



Governmental Business-type
Activities Activities Total

ASSETS
Current Assets:

Cash and equivalents 496,017$           117,686$         613,703$          
Investments 519,837             -                       519,837            
Accounts receivable, net 20,473               87,971             108,444            
Inventory 9,199                 76,276             85,475              
Prepaid expenses 301                    7,375               7,676                
Deposits -                         6,403               6,403                
Internal balances 3,348                 (3,348)              -                        
Cash - restricted for customer deposits -                         1,508               1,508                

Total Current Assets 1,049,175          293,871           1,343,046         
Non-Current Assets:

Restricted assets:
 Investments - debt service 1,812,677          -                       1,812,677         
 Investments - capital projects 3,357,854          -                       3,357,854         

Capital assets not being depreciated:
Land -                         1,359,781        1,359,781         
Construction in progress 2,901,502          2,040               2,903,542         

Capital assets being depreciated:
Infrastructure 5,283,667          405,000           5,688,667         
Recreation facilites 11,607,239        738,577           12,345,816       
Equipment 197,945             219,973           417,918            
Less:  Accumulated depreciation (6,090,553)         (185,197)          (6,275,750)        
Total Non-Current Assets 19,070,331        2,540,174        21,610,505       

Total Assets 20,119,506        2,834,045        22,953,551       

DEFERRED OUTFLOWS OF RESOURCES
Deferred amount on refunding 214,677             -                       214,677            

LIABILITIES
Current Liabilities:

Accounts payable and accrued expenses 430,584             180,559           611,143            
Contracts/retainage payable 568,678             -                       568,678            
Unearned revenues -                         23,349             23,349              
Accrued compensated absences -                         28,267             28,267              
Customer deposits, payable from restricted assets -                         1,508               1,508                
Accrued interest 523,224             -                       523,224            
Bonds payable 930,000             -                       930,000            

Total Current Liabilities 2,452,486          233,683           2,686,169         
Non-Current Liabilities:

Bonds payable, net 28,297,784        -                       28,297,784       
Total Liabilities 30,750,270        233,683           30,983,953       

NET POSITION
Net investment in capital assets (6,090,553)         2,540,174        (3,550,379)        
Restricted for debt service 237,859             -                       237,859            
Restricted for special revenue 61,324               -                       61,324              
Unrestricted (4,624,717)         60,188             (4,564,529)        

Total Net Position (10,416,087)$     2,600,362$      (7,815,725)$      

South Village Community Development District
STATEMENT OF NET POSITION

September 30, 2019

See accompanying notes to financial statements. 
- 9 -



Program
Revenues

Charges for Governmental Business-type
Functions/Programs Expenses Services Activities Activities Total
  Governmental Activities
    General government (143,566)$    208,479$      64,913$           -$                    64,913$         
    Physical environment (734,276)      539,686        (194,590)          -                      (194,590)        
    Culture/recreation (1,526,641) 1,703,270 176,629           -                      176,629         
    Interest and other charges (1,515,921) 2,291,959     776,038           -                      776,038         
      Total Governmental Activities (3,920,404)   4,743,394     822,990           -                      822,990         

  Business-type activities
    Golf course and restaurant (3,086,150)   2,886,999     -                      (199,151)         (199,151)        

  Total Primary Government (7,006,554)$ 7,630,393$   822,990$         (199,151)         623,839         

General revenues:
Investment earnings 100,422           -                      100,422         
Gain on sale of assets -                      332                 332                
Miscellaneous revenues 29,001             22,531            51,532           

Total General Revenues 129,423           22,863            152,286         

Change in Net Position 952,413           (176,288)         776,125         

Net Position - October 1, 2018 (11,368,500)     2,776,650       (8,591,850)     
Net Position - September 30, 2019 (10,416,087)$   2,600,362$      (7,815,725)$   

South Village Community Development District
STATEMENT OF ACTIVITIES

For the Year Ended September 30, 2019

Net (Expense) Revenue and                                 
Changes in Net Position

See accompanying notes to financial statements. 
- 10 -



2016A-1/A-2 2016A-3 2,019 2016A-1/A2 2016A-3 2019 Total
Debt Debt Debt  Capital  Capital Capital  Capital Governmental

ASSETS General Recreation Service Service Service  Projects  Projects Projects Reserve Funds

Cash 189,331$   87,684$      -$                -$             -$                -$                -$                -$                219,002$     496,017$             
Investments 483,484     10,201        -                  -               -                  -                  -                  -                  26,152         519,837               
Due from other funds 43,699       52,983        -                  -               -                  -                  -                  -                  -                   96,682                 
Accounts receivable, net -                 20,473        -                  -               -                  -                  -                  -                  -                   20,473                 
Inventory -                 9,199          -                  -               -                  -                  -                  -                  -                   9,199                   
Prepaid expenses -                 301              -                  -               -                  -                  -                  -                  -                   301                      
Restricted assets:

Investments, at fair value -                 -                  1,177,210   378,603   256,864      18,946        742,517      2,596,391   -                   5,170,531            
Total Assets 716,514$   180,841$    1,177,210$ 378,603$ 256,864$    18,946$      742,517$    2,596,391$ 245,154$     6,313,040$          

LIABILITIES AND FUND BALANCES
LIABILITIES

Accounts payable and accrued expenses 33,842$     49,948$      -$                -$             -$                -$                321,780$    -$                25,014$       430,584$             
Contracts/retainage payable -                 -                  -                  -               -                  -                  157,752      410,926      -                   568,678               
Due to other funds 23,765       69,569        -                  -               -                  -                  -                  -                  -                   93,334                 

 Total Liabilities 57,607       119,517      -                  -               -                  479,532      410,926      25,014         1,092,596            

FUND BALANCES
Nonspendable-prepaids/inventory -                 9,500          -                  -               -                  -                  -                  -                  -                   9,500                   
Restricted for debt service -                 -                  1,177,210   378,603   256,864      -                  -                  -                  -                   1,812,677            
Restricted for capital projects -                 -                  -                  -               -                  18,946        262,985      2,185,465   -                   2,467,396            
Committed recreation -                 51,824        -                  -               -                  -                  -                  -                  220,140       271,964               
Unassigned 658,907     -                -                  -               -                  -                  -                -                -                   658,907               

Total Fund Balances 658,907     61,324        1,177,210   378,603   256,864      18,946        262,985      2,185,465   220,140       5,220,444            

Total Liabilities and Fund Balances 716,514$   180,841$    1,177,210$ 378,603$ 256,864$    18,946$      742,517$    2,596,391$ 245,154$     6,313,040$          

South Village Community Development District
BALANCE SHEET –

GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS
September 30, 2019

See accompanying notes to financial statements.
- 11 -



Total Governmental Fund Balances 5,220,444$       

Amounts reported for governmental activities in the Statement of Net Position
are different because:

Capital assets, not being depreciated, construction in progress, used in
governmental activities are not current financial resources and, therefore, are not
reported at the fund level. 2,901,502

Capital assets being depreciated, infrastructure ($5,283,667), recreation
facilities ($11,607,239), and equipment ($197,945), net of accumulated 
depreciation ($(6,090,553)) used in governmental activities are not current
financial resources and, therefore, are not reported at the fund level. 10,998,298

(29,227,784)

Deferred outflows of resources are not current financial resources and therefore,
are not reported at the fund level. 214,677            

Accrued interest expense for long-term debt is not a current financial use and; 
therefore, is not reported at the fund level. (523,224)

Net Position of Governmental Activities (10,416,087)$    

not reported at the fund level.

South Village Community Development District
RECONCILIATION OF TOTAL GOVERNMENTAL FUND BALANCES

TO NET POSITION OF GOVERNMENTAL ACTIVITIES
September 30, 2019

Long-term liabilities, including bonds payable, ($(29,725,000)), net of bond discounts,
net, ($497,216) are not due and payable in the current period and therefore, are 

See accompanying notes to financial statements. 
- 12 -



 
2016A-1/A-2 2016A-3 2019 2016A-1/A2 2016A-3 2019 Total

Debt Debt Debt  Capital  Capital Capital  Capital Governmental
General Recreation Service Service Service  Projects  Projects Projects Reserve Funds

Revenues:
    Special assessments 746,898$    736,145$     1,563,174$    569,716$      62,964$        -$                 400,000$       -$                  252,441$         4,331,338$       
    Direct assessments 1,267          -                   24,874           71,231          -                   -                   -                    -                    -                       97,372              
    Swim and tennis revenues -                  314,684       -                     -                   -                   -                   -                    -                    -                       314,684            
    Miscellaneous revenues 29,001        -                   -                     -                 -                 -                   -                    -                    -                       29,001              
    Investment earnings 5,370          -                   28,858           7,870            2,430            861               11,501           42,881           651                  100,422            
        Total Revenues 782,536      1,050,829    1,616,906      648,817        65,394          861               411,501         42,881           253,092           4,872,817         

Expenditures:
    Current
        General government 143,265      -                   -                     -                   -                   -                   -                    -                    301                  143,566            
        Physical environment 370,868      -                   -                     -                   -                   -                   -                    -                    -                       370,868            
        Culture/recreation -                  1,090,694    -                     -                   -                   -                   -                    -                    85,035             1,175,729         
    Capital outlay -                  -                   -                   -                 -                 49,188          634,083         2,267,419      101,916           3,052,606         
    Debt service
        Principal -                  -                   880,000         435,000        -                   -                   -                    -                    -                       1,315,000         
        Interest -                  -                   744,909         277,156        63,252          -                   -                    -                    -                       1,085,317         
       Other debt service -                  -                   -                     -                   -                   -                   -                    290,275         -                       290,275            
            Total Expenditures 514,133      1,090,694    1,624,909      712,156        63,252          49,188          634,083         2,557,694      187,252           7,433,361         

Excess of revenues over (under)
expenditures 268,403      (39,865)        (8,003)            (63,339)        2,142            (48,327)        (222,582)       (2,514,813)    65,840             (2,560,544)        

Other Financing Sources/(Uses)
Issuance of long-term debt -                  -                   -                     -                   254,722        -                   -                    4,700,278      -                       4,955,000         

Net Change in Fund Balances 268,403      (39,865)        (8,003)            (63,339)        256,864        (48,327)        (222,582)       2,185,465      65,840             2,394,456         

Fund Balances - October 1, 2018 390,504      101,189       1,185,213      441,942        -                   67,273          485,567         -                    154,300           2,825,988         

Fund Balances - September 30, 2019 658,907$    61,324$       1,177,210$    378,603$      256,864$      18,946$        262,985$       2,185,465$    220,140$         5,220,444$       

South Village Community Development District
STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCES –

GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS
For the Year Ended September 30, 2019

See accompanying notes to financial statements. 
- 13 -



CHANGES IN FUND BALANCES OF GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS TO THE

Net Change in Fund Balances - Total Governmental Funds 2,394,456$    

Amounts reported for governmental activities in the Statement of Activities are
different because:

Governmental funds report capital outlays as expenditures.  However, in the
Statement of Activities, the cost of those assets is allocated over their
estimated useful lives as depreciation.  This is the amount capital outlay ($3,052,606) 
exceeded depreciation ($(714,320)) in the current period. 2,338,286      

Governmental funds report bond proceeds as an other financing source but the net
proceeds increase long-term liabilities at the government-wide level. (4,955,000)     

Principal payments are reported as expenditures in the governmental funds,
but are reported as reductions of liabilities in the Statement of Net Position. 1,315,000      

Deferred outflows of resources for refunding debt is recognized as a component
of interest on long-term debt in the Statement of Activities, but not in the
governmental funds.  This is the amount of interest in the current year. (13,776)          

Amortization of bond discount reported in the Statement of Activities does not require
the use of current financial resources and therefore, is not reported as an 
expenditure in governmental funds. (31,906)          

In the Statement of Activities, interest is accrued on outstanding bonds;

(94,647)          

Change in Net Position of Governmental Activities 952,413$       

whereas in governmental funds, interest expenditures are reported when 
due. This is the change in accrued interest during the current period.

South Village Community Development District
RECONCILIATION OF THE STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND

STATEMENT OF ACTIVITIES
For the Year Ended September 30, 2019

See accompanying notes to financial statements. 
- 14 -



  
Variance with 
Final Budget

Original Final Positive
Budget Budget Actual (Negative)

Revenues
    Special assessments 740,954$  740,954$  746,898$   5,944$           
    Direct assessments 1,267        1,267        1,267 -                     
    Miscellaneous revenues -                -                29,001       29,001           
    Investment earnings -                -                5,370         5,370             
        Total Revenues 742,221    742,221    782,536 40,315           

Expenditures
    Current
        General government 157,172    157,172    143,265     13,907           
        Physical environment 585,049    445,439    370,868     74,571           
            Total Expenditures 742,221    602,611    514,133     88,478           

Excess of revenues over/(under)
expenditures -                139,610    268,403     128,793         

Other Financing Sources/(Uses)
Transfers out -                (139,610)   -                139,610         

Net Change in Fund Balances -                -                268,403     268,403         

Fund Balances - October 1, 2018 -                -                390,504     390,504         
 

Fund Balances - September 30, 2019 -$              -$              658,907$   658,907$       
 

South Village Community Development District
STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND

GENERAL FUND
For the Year Ended September 30, 2019

CHANGES IN FUND BALANCES – BUDGET AND ACTUAL –

See accompanying notes to financial statements. 

- 15 -



  
Variance with 
Final Budget

Original Final Positive
Budget Budget Actual (Negative)

Revenues
    Special assessments 864,989$    730,240$  736,145$  5,905$           
    Swim and tennis revenues 254,670 254,670 314,684 60,014           
        Total Revenues 1,119,659 984,910 1,050,829 65,919           

Expenditures
    Current
        Culture/recreation 961,883      1,050,203 1,090,694 (40,491)          

Excess of revenues over/(under)
expenditures 157,776      (65,293)     (39,865)     25,428           

Other Financing Sources/(Uses)
Transfers in -                  88,320      -                (88,320)          

Net Change in Fund Balances 157,776      23,027      (39,865)     (62,892)          

Fund Balances - October 1, 2018 -                  -                101,189    101,189         
 

Fund Balances - September 30, 2019 157,776$    23,027$    61,324$    38,297$         
 

South Village Community Development District
STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND

CHANGES IN FUND BALANCES – BUDGET AND ACTUAL –
RECREATION FUND

For the Year Ended September 30, 2019

See accompanying notes to financial statements. 

- 16 -



ASSETS
Current Assets

Cash and equivalents 117,686$        
Accounts receivable 87,971            
Due from other funds 45,870            
Prepaid expenses 7,375              
Inventories 76,276            
Deposits 6,403              
Cash restricted for customer deposits 1,508              

Total Current Assets 343,089          
Non-Current Assets

Construction in progress 2,040              
Land 1,359,781       
Infrastructure 405,000          
Recreation facilities 738,577          
Equipment 219,973          
Less: Accumulated depreciation (185,197)         

Total Non-Current Assets 2,540,174       
Total Assets 2,883,263       

LIABILITIES
Current Liabilities
  Accounts payable and accrued expenses 180,559          
  Customer deposits payable from restricted assets 1,508              
  Due to other funds 49,218            
  Accrued compensated absences 28,267            
  Unearned revenues 23,349            

Total Current Liabilities 282,901          

NET POSITION
Net investment in capital assets 2,540,174       
Unrestricted 60,188            

        Total Net Position 2,600,362$      

South Village Community Development District
STATEMENT OF FUND NET POSITION – ENTERPRISE FUND

September 30, 2019

See accompanying notes to financial statements.
- 17 -



Operating Revenues:
Charges for services 2,562,858$   
Miscellaneous revenues 22,531
Special assessments 324,141        

Total Operating Revenues 2,909,530     

Operating Expenses:
Personal services 1,362,637
Contractual and professional services 345,703
Supplies and expenses 921,572
Repairs and maintenance 75,931
Utilities 135,482
Rent and lease expense 184,709
Depreciation 60,116

Total Operating Expenses 3,086,150     

Operating Income(Loss) (176,620)       

Other Income/(Expenses)
Gain on sale of assets 332               

Change in net position (176,288)       

Net Position - October 1, 2018 2,776,650     

Net Position - September 30, 2019 2,600,362$   

South Village Community Development District

For the Year Ended September 30, 2019

STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENSES AND CHANGES 
IN FUND NET POSITION – ENTERPRISE FUND

See accompanying notes to financial statements.
- 18 -



CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Receipts from customers 2,614,405$    
Receipts from other sources 346,672         
Payments to suppliers for goods and services (1,724,583)     
Payments to employees for services (1,334,370)     

Net Cash Used by Operating Activities (97,876)          

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Proceeds froms sale of capital asset 3,000             

Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents (94,876)          

Cash and equivalents - October 1, 2018 214,070         

Cash and equivalents - September 30, 2019 119,194$       

RECONCILIATION OF OPERATING INCOME TO NET
  CASH PROVIDED BY OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Operating income/(loss) (176,620)$      
Adjustments to reconcile operating income to net cash 
   provided by operating activities:

Depreciation expense 60,116           
Decrease in accounts receivable 57,183           
Increase in prepaid expenses (3,649)            
Increase in inventories (20,954)          
Increase in due from other funds (43,304)          
Decrease in accounts payable and accrued expenses (39,335)          
Decrease in customer deposits (3,691)            
Increase in accrued compensated absences 28,267           
Increase in due to other funds 46,056           
Decrease in unearned revenues (1,945)            

Net Cash Provided by Operating Activities (97,876)$        

South Village Community Development District
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS – ENTERPRISE FUND

For the Year Ended September 30, 2019

See accompanying notes to financial statements.
- 19 -



South Village Community Development District 
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

September 30, 2019 
 

- 20 - 

NOTE A – SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
 
The financial statements of the District have been prepared in conformity with generally 
accepted accounting principles (GAAP) as applied to governmental units.  The Governmental 
Accounting Standards Board (GASB) is the accepted standard-setting body for establishing 
governmental accounting and financial reporting principles.  The District's more significant 
accounting policies are described below. 
 
1. Reporting Entity 
 

The District was established on April 28, 2003, pursuant the Uniform Community 
Development District Act of 1980, Chapter 190, Florida Statutes, as amended (the “Act”) by 
Ordinances Number 2003-36 as amended by ordinance number 2004-67 of the Clay County 
Board of County Commissioners, as a Community Development District.  The District was 
established for the purposes of financing and managing the acquisition, construction, 
maintenance and operation of the infrastructure necessary for community development 
within its jurisdiction.  The District is authorized to issue bonds for the purpose, among 
others, of financing, funding, planning, establishing, acquiring, constructing or re-
constructing, enlarging or extending, equipping, operating and maintaining water 
management, bridges or culverts, district roads, landscaping, street lights and other basic 
infrastructure projects within or without the boundaries of the South Village Community 
Development District.  The District is governed by a five-member Board of Supervisors who 
are elected by qualified electors of the District for four year terms.  The District operates 
within the criteria established by Chapter 190. 
 
As required by GAAP, these financial statements present the South Village Community 
Development District (the primary government) as a stand-alone government.  The reporting 
entity for the District includes all functions of government in which the District’s Board 
exercises oversight responsibility including, but not limited to, financial interdependency, 
selection of governing authority, designation of management, significant ability to influence 
operations and accountability for fiscal matters. 
 
Based upon the application of the above-mentioned criteria as set forth by the Governmental 
Accounting Standards Board, the District has identified no component units. 

 
2.  Measurement Focus and Basis of Accounting 
 

The basic financial statements of the District are composed of the following: 
 

• Government-wide financial statements 
 

• Fund financial statements 
 

• Notes to financial statements 



South Village Community Development District 
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

September 30, 2019 
 

- 21 - 

NOTE A – SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 
 
2.  Measurement Focus and Basis of Accounting (Continued) 
 
  a. Government-wide Financial Statements 
 

Government-wide financial statements report all non-fiduciary information about the 
reporting government as a whole.  These statements include separate columns for the 
governmental and business-type activities of the primary government.  For the most part, 
the effect of interfund activity has been removed from these statements. 
 
Governmental activities, which normally are supported by special assessments and 
interest, are reported separately from business-type activities.  Program revenues 
include charges for services and grants and contribution.  Program revenues are netted 
with program expenses in the Statement of Activities to present the net cost of each 
program. 
 
Amounts paid to acquire capital assets are capitalized as assets, rather than reported as 
an expenditure.  Proceeds of long-term debt are recorded as liabilities in the 
government-wide financial statements, rather than as an other financing source. 
 
Amounts paid to reduce long-term indebtedness of the reporting government are 
reported as a reduction of the related liability, rather than as an expenditure. 

 
  b. Fund Financial Statements 
 

The underlying accounting system of the District is organized and operated on the basis 
of separate funds, each of which is considered to be a separate accounting entity.  The 
operations of each fund are accounted for with a separate set of self-balancing accounts 
that comprise its assets, liabilities, fund equity, revenues and expenditures or expenses, 
as appropriate.  Governmental resources are allocated to and accounted for in individual 
funds based upon the purposes for which they are to be spent and the means by which 
spending activities are controlled. 
 
Fund financial statements for the primary government’s governmental funds are 
presented after the government-wide financial statements.  These statements display 
information about major funds individually. 
 
Governmental Funds  
 
Governmental fund financial statements are reported using the current financial 
resources measurement focus and the modified accrual basis of accounting.  Revenues 
are considered to be available when they are collected within the current period or soon 
thereafter to pay liabilities of the current period.  For this purpose, the District considers 
revenues to be available if they are collected within 60 days of the end of the current 
fiscal period 



South Village Community Development District 
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

September 30, 2019 
 

- 22 - 

NOTE A – SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 
 
2.  Measurement Focus and Basis of Accounting (Continued) 
 
  b. Fund Financial Statements (Continued) 
 

Governmental Funds (Continued) 
 

Expenditures generally are recorded when a liability is incurred, as under accrual 
accounting.  Interest associated with the current fiscal period is considered to be an 
accrual item and so has been recognized as revenue of the current fiscal period.   
 
Under the current financial resources measurement focus, only current assets and 
current liabilities are generally included on the balance sheet.  The reported fund 
balance is considered to be a measure of “available spendable resources”.  
Governmental fund operating statements present increases (revenues and other 
financing sources) and decreases (expenditures and other financing uses) in net 
position.  Accordingly, they are said to present a summary of sources and uses of 
“available spendable resources” during a period. 
 
Because of their spending measurement focus, expenditure recognition for 
governmental fund types excludes amounts represented by non-current liabilities.  Since 
they do not affect net current assets, such long-term amounts are not recognized as 
governmental fund type expenditures or fund liabilities. 
 

Amounts expended to acquire capital assets are recorded as expenditures in the year 
that resources are expended, rather than as fund assets.  The proceeds of long-term 
debt are recorded as other financing source rather than as a fund liability. 
 
Debt service expenditures are recorded only when payment is due. 
 
The District classifies fund balance according to Governmental Accounting Standards 
Board Statement 54 – Fund Balance Reporting and Governmental Fund Type 
Definitions. The Statement requires the fund balance for governmental funds to be 
reported in classifications that comprise a hierarchy based primarily on the extent to 
which the government is bound to honor constraints on the specific purposes for which 
amounts in those funds can be spent.  
 
The District has various policies governing the fund balance classifications. 
 
Nonspendable Fund Balance – This classification consists of amounts that cannot be 
spent because they are either not in spendable form or are legally or contractually 
required to be maintained intact.  
 
Restricted Fund Balance – This classification includes amounts that can be spent only 
for specific purposes stipulated by constitution, external resource providers, or through 
enabling legislation. 
 

 Committed Fund Balance – This classification includes amounts for specific purposes 
adopted by the Board with a resolution or contractual obligations which require a formal 
approval from the Board and the funding has been set aside for the purpose. This type 
of fund balance can only be removed by the Board through the same approval process.  



South Village Community Development District 
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

September 30, 2019 
 

- 23 - 

 
NOTE A – SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 
 
2.  Measurement Focus and Basis of Accounting (Continued) 
 
  b. Fund Financial Statements (Continued) 
 

Governmental Funds (Continued) 
 
Assigned Fund Balance – This classification consists of the Board of Supervisors’ intent 
to be used for specific purposes but are neither restricted nor committed. The assigned 
fund balances can also be assigned by the District’s management company. 
 
Unassigned Fund Balance – This classification is the residual classification for the 
government’s general fund and includes all spendable amounts not contained in the 
other classifications.  Unassigned fund balance is considered to be utilized first when an 
expenditure is incurred for purposes for which amounts in any of those unrestricted fund 
balance classifications could be used. 
 
Fund Balance Spending Hierarchy – For all governmental funds except special revenue 
funds, when restricted, committed, assigned, and unassigned fund balances are 
combined in a fund, qualified expenditures are paid first from restricted or committed 
fund balance, as appropriate, then assigned and finally unassigned fund balances. 
 
Enterprise Funds 
 
In the fund financial statements, the enterprise fund is presented using the accrual basis 
of accounting.  Revenues are recognized when they are earned and expenses are 
recognized when the related goods or services are delivered.  In the fund financial 
statements, enterprise funds are presented using the economic resources measurement 
focus.  This means that all assets and all liabilities (whether current or non-current) 
associated with their activity are included on their balance sheets.  Enterprise fund 
operating statements present increases (revenues) and decreases (expenses) in total 
net position.  The District applies all GASB pronouncements as well as FASB 
Statements and Interpretations, APB Opinions and Accounting Research Bulletins, 
issued on or before November 30, 1989, which do not conflict with, or contradict, GASB 
pronouncements.  

 
3.  Basis of Presentation 
 
      a.   Governmental Major Funds 
 

General Fund – The General Fund is the District’s primary operating fund.  It accounts 
for all financial resources of the general government, except those required to be 
accounted for in another fund. 
 
Recreation Fund – The Recreation Fund is a special revenue fund established to 
account for the financial resources of the District’s recreation areas. 



South Village Community Development District 
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

September 30, 2019 
 

- 24 - 

NOTE A – SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 
 
3.  Basis of Presentation (Continued) 
 
 a. Governmental Major Funds (Continued) 
 

2016A-1/A-2 Debt Service Fund – The 2016A-1/A-2 Debt Service Fund accounts for 
debt service requirements to retire the capital improvement revenue and refunding 
bonds, Series 2016A-1 and Series 2016A-2. 

 
2016A-3 Debt Service Fund – The 2016A-3 Debt Service Fund accounts for debt 
service requirements to retire the capital improvement revenue and refunding bonds, 
Series 2016A-3. 
 
2019 Debt Service Fund – The 2019 Debt Service Fund accounts for debt service 
requirements to retire the capital improvement revenue, Series 2019A and 2019B. 

 
2016A-1/A-2 Capital Projects Fund – The Capital Projects Fund accounts for the 
proceeds from Long-Term debt issued in 2016 through Series 2016 A-1 and A-2 Capital 
Improvement Revenue and Refunding Bonds for the acquisition or construction of major 
infrastructure within the District.  

 
2016A-3 Capital Projects Fund – The Capital Projects Fund accounts for the proceeds 
from Long-Term debt issued in 2016 through Series 2016 A-3 Capital Improvement 
Revenue and Refunding Bonds for the acquisition or construction of major infrastructure 
within the District. 

 
2019 Capital Projects Fund – The Capital Projects Fund accounts for the proceeds from 
long-term debt issued in 2019 for the acquisition or construction of major infrastructure 
within the District. 

 
Capital Reserve Fund – The Capital Reserve Fund accounts for the funds set aside to 
ensure the District has adequate funding for ongoing and future projects. 

 
 b. Enterprise Major Fund 
 

Enterprise Fund – The Enterprise Fund accounts for the operations of the Golf Course, 
Pro Shop and Restaurant, which are funded by proceeds from operations of these 
facilities, including green fees, cart fees and member dues in the form of annual special 
assessments. 

 
 c. Non-current Governmental Assets/Liabilities 
 

GASB Statement 34 requires that non-current governmental assets, such as land and 
buildings, and non-current governmental liabilities, such as general obligation bonds, be 
reported in the governmental activities column in the government-wide Statement of Net 
Position. 
 

 



South Village Community Development District 
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

September 30, 2019 
 

- 25 - 

NOTE A – SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 
 
4. Assets, Liabilities, and Net Position or Equity 
 

a. Cash and Investments 
 
Florida Statutes require state and local governmental units to deposit monies with 
financial institutions classified as "Qualified Public Depositories," a multiple financial 
institution pool whereby groups of securities pledged by the various financial institutions 
provide common collateral from their deposits of public funds.  This pool is provided as 
additional insurance to the federal depository insurance and allows for additional 
assessments against the member institutions, providing full insurance for public 
deposits.  

 

The District is authorized to invest in those financial instruments as established by 
Section 218.415, Florida Statutes.  The authorized investments consist of: 

 
1. Direct obligations of the United States Treasury; 
2. The Local Government Surplus Funds Trust or any intergovernmental investment 

pool authorized pursuant to the Florida Interlocal Cooperative Act of 1969; 
3. Interest-bearing time deposits or savings accounts in authorized qualified public 

depositories; 
4. Securities and Exchange Commission, registered money market funds with the 

highest credit quality rating from a nationally recognized rating agency. 
 
For purposes of the statement of cash flows, cash equivalents include time deposits, 
certificates of deposit and all highly liquid debt instruments with original maturities of 
three months or less and held in a qualified public depository as defined by Chapter 
280.02, Florida Statutes. 

  
 b. Receivables and Payables 
 

Activity between funds that are representative of lending/borrowing arrangements 
outstanding at the end of the fiscal year are referred to as "due to/from other funds".  
Any residual balances outstanding between the governmental activities and business-
type activities are reported as "internal balances". 

 
 c. Inventories 
 

Inventories are recorded at cost using the first in-first out basis and recognized as 
expenses as they are consumed. 

 
 d. Restricted Assets 
 

Certain assets of the District and a corresponding liability or portion of net position is 
classified as restricted assets on the statement of net position because their use is 
limited either by law through constitutional provisions or enabling legislation; or by 
restrictions imposed externally by creditors.  In a fund with both restricted and 
unrestricted assets, qualified expenses are considered to be paid first from restricted net 
position and then from unrestricted net position. 



South Village Community Development District 
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

September 30, 2019 
 

- 26 - 

NOTE A – SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 
 
4. Assets, Liabilities, and Net Position or Equity (Continued) 

 
 e. Capital Assets 
 

Capital assets, which include land, construction in progress, infrastructure, recreation 
facilities, and equipment, are reported in governmental activities. 

 
The District defines capital assets as assets with an initial, individual cost of $5,000 or 
more and an estimated useful life in excess of two years.  The valuation basis for all 
assets is historical cost.   
 
The costs of normal maintenance and repairs that do not add to the value of the asset or 
materially extend its useful life are not capitalized.  Major outlays for capital assets and 
improvements are capitalized as projects are constructed. 
 
Depreciation of capital assets is computed and recorded by utilizing the straight-line 
method.  Estimated useful lives of the various classes of depreciable capital assets are 
as follows: 
 

  Infrastructure and recreation facilities  30 years 
  Equipment 10 years 
 
 f. Budgets 
 

Budgets are prepared and adopted after public hearings for the governmental funds, 
pursuant to Chapter 190, Florida Statutes.  The District utilizes the same basis of 
accounting for budgets as it does for revenues and expenditures in its various funds.  
Formal budgets are adopted for the general fund.  The legal level of budgetary control is 
at the fund level.  As a result, deficits in the budget columns of the accompanying 
financial statements may occur.  All budgeted appropriations lapse at year end. 

 
 g. Deferred Outflows of Resources 
 

Deferred outflows of resources represent a consumption of net position that applies to 
future periods.  The District reported a deferred amount on refunding on the Statement 
of Net Position.  A deferred amount on refunding results from the difference in the 
carrying value of refunded debt and its reacquisition price.  This amount is deferred and 
amortized over the shorter of the life of the refunded or refunding debt. 
 

 h. Unamortized Bond Discount 
 

Bond discounts are presented on the government-wide financial statements.  The costs 
are amortized over the life of the bonds.  For financial reporting, the unamortized bond 
discount is netted against the applicable long-term debt. 
 
 
 
 



South Village Community Development District 
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

September 30, 2019 
 

- 27 - 

NOTE B – RECONCILIATION OF GOVERNMENT-WIDE AND FUND FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS 

 
1. Explanation of Differences Between the Governmental Fund Balance Sheet and the 

Government-wide Statement of Net Position 
 

“Total fund balances” of the District’s governmental funds ($5,220,444) differs from “net 
position” of governmental activities ($(10,416,087)) reported in the Statement of Net 
Position.  This difference primarily results from the long-term economic focus of the 
Statement of Net Position versus the current financial resources focus of the Governmental 
Fund Balance Sheet.  The effect of the differences is illustrated as follows: 

 
Capital related items 
 
When capital assets (that are to be used in governmental activities) are purchased or 
constructed, the cost of those assets is reported as expenditures in governmental funds.  
However, the Statement of Net Position included those capital assets among the assets of 
the District as a whole. 

 
  Construction in progress     $         2,901,502 
  Infrastructure                             5,283,667 
  Recreation facilities               11,607,239 
  Equipment                         197,945 
  Accumulated depreciation                (6,090,553) 
   Total                  $       13,899,800  
    

Long-term debt transactions 
 
Long-term liabilities applicable to the District’s governmental activities are not due and 
payable in the current period and accordingly are not reported as fund liabilities.  All 
liabilities (both current and long-term) are reported in the Statement of Net Position.  
Balances at September 30, 2019 were:   

   
 Bonds payable                                                                      $        (29,725,000)  
 Bond discount, net                497,216   
           Total $       (29,227,784)  

 
Deferred outflows of resources 
 
Deferred outflows of resources applicable to the District's governmental activities are not 
financial resources and therefore, are not reported as fund deferred outflows of resources. 

 
  Deferred amount on refunding       $              214,677       



South Village Community Development District 
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

September 30, 2019 
 

- 28 - 

NOTE B – RECONCILIATION OF GOVERNMENT-WIDE AND FUND FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 

 
1. Explanation of Differences Between the Governmental Fund Balance Sheet and the 

Government-wide Statement of Net Position (Continued) 
 
Accrued interest 
 
Accrued liabilities in the Statement of Net Position differ from the amount reported in 
governmental funds due to the accrued interest on bonds. 

 
  Accrued interest                    $           ($523,224)      
 
2. Explanation of Differences Between the Governmental Fund Operating Statements 

and the Statement of Activities 
 

The “net change in fund balances” for government funds ($2,394,456) differs from the 
“change in net position” for governmental activities ($952,413) reported in the Statement of 
Activities.  The differences arise primarily from the long-term economic focus of the 
Statement of Activities versus the current financial resources focus of the governmental 
funds.  The effect of the differences is illustrated below. 
 
Capital related items 
 
When capital assets that are to be used in governmental activities are purchased or 
constructed, the resources expended for those assets are reported as expenditures in 
governmental funds.  However, in the Statement of Activities, the costs of those assets is 
allocated over their estimated useful lives and reported as depreciation.  As a result, fund 
balances decrease by the amount of financial resources expended, whereas net position 
decrease by the amount of depreciation charged for the year. 
 

  Capital outlay                                             $       3,052,606 
  Depreciation                         (714,320) 
   Net Change                                   $       2,338,286  
 

Long-term debt transactions 
 
Repayments of bond principal are reported as an expenditure in the governmental funds 
and, thus, have the effect of reducing fund balance because current financial resources 
have been used. 
 

 Bond principal payments $       1,315,000 
 Issuance of long-term debt         (4,955,000)  
 Amortization of bond discount              (31,906) 
               Total $      (3,671,906) 
 
          
 
 



South Village Community Development District 
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

September 30, 2019 
 

- 29 - 

 
NOTE B – RECONCILIATION OF GOVERNMENT-WIDE AND FUND FINANCIAL 

STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 

2. Explanation of Differences Between the Governmental Fund Operating Statements 
and the Statement of Activities (Continued) 
 
Long-term debt transactions (Continued) 
 
Some expenses reported in the Statement of Activities do not require the use of current 
financial resources, therefore, are not reported as expenditures in governmental funds. 

 
  Net change in accrued interest payable    $          (94,647) 
  Decrease in deferred amount on refunding                (13,776) 
   Total        $        (108,423) 
 
NOTE C – CASH AND INVESTMENTS 
 
All deposits are held in qualified public depositories and are included on the accompanying 
balance sheet as cash and investments.   
 
Custodial Credit Risk – Deposits 
 
Custodial credit risk is the risk that in the event of a bank failure, the District's deposits may not 
be returned to it.  The District does not have a formal deposit policy for custodial credit risk, 
however, they follow the provisions of Chapter 280, Florida Statutes regarding deposits and 
investments.  As of September 30, 2019, the District's bank balance was $603,708 and the 
carrying value was $615,211.  Exposure to custodial credit risk was as follows. The District 
maintains all deposits in a qualified public depository in accordance with the provisions of 
Chapter 280, Florida Statutes, which means that all deposits are fully insured by Federal 
Depositors Insurance or collateralized under Chapter 280, Florida Statutes. 
 
As of September 30, 2019, the District had the following investments and maturities: 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 

Investment Maturities Fair Value

SBA Local Gov't Surplus Trust Fund
    Florida Prime 37 days * 519,837$      
First American Government
    Obligation Fund 24 days * 5,170,531     

Total 5,690,368$   

* Weighted Average Maturity



South Village Community Development District 
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

September 30, 2019 
 

- 30 - 

 
NOTE C – CASH AND INVESTMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 
The District categorizes its fair value measurements within the fair value hierarchy recently 
established by generally accepted accounting principles. The fair value is the price that would 
be received to sell an asset, or paid to transfer a liability, in an orderly transaction between 
market participants at the measurement date. The hierarchy is based on the valuation inputs 
used to measure the fair value of the asset. The District uses a market approach in measuring 
fair value that uses prices and other relevant information generated by market transactions 
involving identical or similar assets, liabilities, or groups of assets and liabilities. 
 
Assets or liabilities are classified into one of three levels. Level 1 is the most reliable and is 
based on quoted price for identical assets, or liabilities, in an active market. Level 2 uses 
significant other observable inputs when obtaining quoted prices for identical or similar assets, 
or liabilities, in markets that are not active. Level 3 is the least reliable and uses significant 
unobservable inputs that uses the best information available under the circumstances, which 
includes the District’s own data in measuring unobservable inputs. 
 
Based on the criteria in the preceding paragraph, the investment in First American Government 
Obligation Fund is a Level 1 asset.  
 
Investments 
 
The District’s investment policy allows management to invest funds in investments permitted 
under Section 218.415, Florida Statutes.   
 
Cash placed with the State Board of Administration represents the District’s participation in the 
Local Government Surplus Trust Funds Investment Pool and is reported at fair value. 
 
Interest Rate Risk 
 
The District does not have a formal investment policy that limits investment maturities as a 
means of managing its exposure to fair value losses arising from increasing interest rates. 
 
Credit Risk 
 
The District's investments in are limited by state statutory requirements and bond compliance.  
The District has no investment policy that would further limit its investment choices. The Local 
Government Surplus Funds Trust is an authorized investment under Section 218.415, Florida 
Statutes. The District's investments in the state investment pool and government loans are 
limited by state statutory requirements and bond compliance. The District had monies invested 
with the Local Government Surplus Funds Trust Fund (Fund), at September 30, 2019. This fund 
met the requirements of a "2-7a like pool" as defined in Government Accounting Standards 
Board, Statement 31. As of September 30, 2019, the District's investments in the First American 
Government Obligation Fund Class Y and Local Government Surplus Funds were rated AAAm 
by Standard & Poor's.  



South Village Community Development District 
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

September 30, 2019 
 

- 31 - 

NOTE C – CASH AND INVESTMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 
Concentration of Credit Risk 
 
The District places no limit on the amount it may invest in any one issuer. The investment in 
First American Government Obligation Funds represents 91% of the District's total investments 
and investment in Local Government Surplus Funds Trust represents 9% of the District's total 
investments.  
 
The types of deposits and investments and their level of risk exposure as of September 30, 
2019 were typical of these items during the fiscal year then ended.  The District considers any 
decline in fair value to be temporary.  
  
NOTE D – CAPITAL ASSETS 
 
Capital Asset activity for the year ended September 30, 2019 was as follows: 
 

 Balance Balance
10/1/2018 Additions Deletions 9/30/2019

Governmental Activities:
Capital assets, not being depreciated

Construction in progress -$                   2,901,502$  -$               2,901,502$   

Capital assets, being depreciated:
   Infrastructure 5,283,667      -                  -                 5,283,667     
   Recreation facilities 11,456,135    151,104       -                 11,607,239   
   Equipment 197,945         -                  -                 197,945        
Total Capital Assets, Being Depreciated 16,937,747    151,104       -                 17,088,851   

Less accumulated depreciation for:
   Infrastructure (1,372,561)     (243,719)     -                 (1,616,280)    
   Recreation facilities (3,920,135)     (435,947)     -                 (4,356,082)    
   Equipment (83,537)          (34,654)       -                 (118,191)       
Total Accumulated Depreciation (5,376,233)     (714,320)     -                 (6,090,553)    
Total Capital Assets Depreciated, Net 11,561,514    (563,216)     -                 10,998,298   

Governmental Activities Capital Assets, Net 11,561,514$  2,338,286$  -$               13,899,800$ 

The infrastructure intended to serve the District has been estimated at a total cost of 
approximately $49 million.  The infrastructure includes roadways, stormwater management 
system, water and sewer facilities, recreational facilities, and other related infrastructure.  A 
portion of the project costs were financed with the proceeds from the Series 2005A Bonds while 
the remainder will be funded by additional bonds and the Developer.  In a prior fiscal year, 
certain improvements were conveyed to other entities for ownership and maintenance 
responsibilities. 
 
Depreciation was charged to physical environment, $278,373, and culture/recreation, $435,947. 
 



South Village Community Development District 
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

September 30, 2019 
 

- 32 - 

NOTE D – CAPITAL ASSETS (CONTINUED) 
 
The following is a summary of changes in the Business-type Activities capital assets for the year 
ended September 30, 2019. 

Balance Balance
10/1/2018 Additions Deletions 9/30/2019

Capital assets, not being depreciated:
   Land  $  1,359,781  $                -  $           -  $   1,359,781 
   Construction in progress             2,040                    -               -              2,040 
Total Capital Assets, Not Depreciated      1,361,821                    -               -       1,361,821 

Capital assets, being depreciated:
   Infrastructure         405,000                    -               -          405,000 
   Recreation facilities         738,577                    -               -          738,577 
   Equipment         223,973                    -      (4,000)          219,973 
Total Capital Assets, Being Depreciated      1,367,550                    -      (4,000)       1,363,550 

Less accumulated depreciation for:
   Infrastructure          (30,375)         (13,500)               -          (43,875)
   Recreation facilities          (51,103)         (24,619)               -          (75,722)
   Equipment          (44,935)         (21,997)       1,332          (65,600)
Total accumulated depreciation        (126,413)         (60,116)       1,332        (185,197)
Total capital assets depreciated, net      1,241,137         (60,116)      (2,668)       1,178,353 

Business-Type Activities Capital Assets  $  2,602,958  $     (60,116)  $  (2,668)  $   2,540,174 

Depreciation was charged to the golf course, $35,497 and the restaurant, $24,619. 
 
NOTE E – INTERFUND BALANCES 
 
Interfund balances at September 30, 2019, consisted of the following: 
 

Receivable Fund General Fund Recreation Enterprise Fund Total
General Fund -$                      43,699$            -$                      43,699$   
Recreation 3,765                -                        49,218              52,983     
Enterprise Fund 20,000              25,870              -                        45,870     
          Total 23,765$            69,569$            49,218$            142,552$ 

Payable Fund

 
Interfund balances are related to credit card usage, payroll and expenditures paid by one fund 
for another fund. The amounts will be repaid in the next fiscal year. 



South Village Community Development District 
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

September 30, 2019 
 

- 33 - 

 
NOTE F – LONG-TERM DEBT 
 
The following is a summary of debt activity for the District for the year ended September 30, 
2019. 
 

Balance Balance
October 1, September 30,

2018 Additions Deletions 2019
Capital Improvement Revenue
      and Refunding Bonds
      Series 2016A-1 15,840,000$   -$                   680,000$       15,160,000$   
Capital Improvement Revenue
      and Refunding Bonds
      Series 2016A-2 5,095,000       -                     200,000         4,895,000       
Capital Improvement Revenue
      and Refunding Bonds
      Series 2016A-3 5,150,000       -                     435,000         4,715,000       
Capital Improvement Revenue
      Bonds Series 2019A -                      3,255,000      -                     3,255,000       
Capital Improvement Revenue
      Bonds Series 2019B -                      1,700,000      -                     1,700,000       

Bonds Payable 26,085,000$   4,955,000$    1,315,000$    29,725,000$   
357

 



South Village Community Development District 
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

September 30, 2019 
 

- 34 - 

NOTE F – LONG-TERM DEBT (CONTINUED) 
 
Long-term debt is comprised of the following: 
 
Capital Improvement Revenue and Refunding Bonds 
 
$17,075,000 Series 2016A-1 Capital Improvement Revenue and 
Refunding Bonds due in annual principal installments beginning May 
2017.  Interest at various rates between 2.00% and 3.75% is due 
May and November beginning November 2017.  Current portion is 
$610,000. $    15,160,000 
 
$5,480,000 Series 2016A-2 Capital Improvement Revenue and 
Refunding Bonds due in annual principal installments beginning May 
2017.  Interest at various rates between 4.35% and 5.00% is due 
May and November beginning November 2017.  Current portion is 
$175,000.         4,895,000 
 
$5,530,000 Series 2016A-3 Capital Improvement Revenue and 
Refunding Bonds due in annual principal installments beginning May 
2017.  Interest at various rates between 5.50% and 6.00% is due 
May and November beginning November 2017.  Current portion is 
$100,000.         4,715,000 
 
$3,255,000 Series 2019A Capital Improvement Revenue and Bonds 
due in annual principal installments beginning May 2020.  Interest at 
various rates between 4.75% and 5.60% is due May and November 
beginning May 2019.  Current portion is $45,000.         3,255,000 
 
$1,700,000 Series 2019B Capital Improvement Revenue and Bonds 
due in annual principal installments beginning May 2020.  Interest at 
a fixed rate of 5.60% is due May and November beginning May 2019.  
           1,700,000 
 
  Bonds payable       29,725,000 
  Bond discount, net           (497,216) 
    Bonds Payable, net $    29,227,784  



South Village Community Development District 
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

September 30, 2019 
 

- 35 - 

 
NOTE F – LONG-TERM DEBT (CONTINUED) 
 
The annual requirements to amortize the principal and interest of bonded debt outstanding as of 
September 30, 2019 are as follows:  

    Year Ending
   September 30, Principal Interest Total

2020  $        930,000  $      1,251,902  $     2,181,902 
2021            965,000          1,222,565         2,187,565 
2022            995,000          1,193,692         2,188,692 
2023         1,025,000          1,163,016         2,188,016 
2024         1,055,000          1,129,666         2,184,666 

2025-2029         7,620,000          4,953,241       12,573,241 
2030-2034         7,310,000          3,242,914       10,552,914 
2035-2039         6,640,000          1,595,440         8,235,440 
2040-2044         1,745,000             673,540         2,418,540 
2045-2049         1,440,000             203,970         1,643,970 

Totals  $   29,725,000  $    16,629,946  $   46,354,946 
 

Summary of Significant Bonds Resolution Terms and Covenants  
 
Depository Funds – The bond resolution establishes certain funds and determines the order in 
which revenues are to be deposited into these funds.  A description of the significant funds, 
including their purposes, is as follows: 
 
1. Reserve Fund – The Series 2016A-1 and 2016A-2 Capital Improvement Revenue and 
Refunding Bonds Reserve Accounts are funded from the proceeds of the Bonds in an amount 
equal to fifty percent of the Maximum Annual Debt Service Requirement for the respective bond. 
The Series 2016A-3 Capital Improvement Revenue and Refunding Bonds is funded from the 
proceeds of the Bonds in an amount equal to thirty-five percent of the Maximum Annual Debt 
Service Requirement for the Series 2016A-3 Bonds. The Series 2019A Capital Improvement 
Revenue Bonds is funded from the proceeds of the Bonds in an amount equal to twenty-five 
percent of the Maximum Annual Debt Service Requirement for the Series 2019A Bonds.  
Monies held in the reserve accounts will be used only for the purposes established in the Trust 
Indenture. 
 

Reserve 
Balance

Reserve 
Requirement

Series 2016A-1 Capital Improvement Revenue and Refunding Bond  $     555,752  $     534,071 
Series 2016A-2 Capital Improvement Revenue and Refunding Bond  $     205,091  $     198,592 
Series 2016A-3 Capital Improvement Revenue and Refunding Bond  $     143,837  $     126,648 
Series 2019A Capital Improvement Revenue and Refunding Bond  $       56,199  $       55,930  

 
 
 



South Village Community Development District 
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

September 30, 2019 
 

- 36 - 

NOTE G – OPERATING LEASES 
 
The District leases golf carts and equipment under various operating lease agreements.  The 
lease terms range from 42 to 60 months.  During the year, golf cart and equipment lease 
payments totaled $104,412.  The future minimum payments on the leases are as follows: 
 

Year Ending Business-type
September 30, Activities

2020  $            104,412 
2021                  46,936 
2022                  34,291 

Total  $            185,639 

 
NOTE H – SPECIAL ASSESSMENT REVENUES 
 
Assessments are non-ad valorem assessments on benefitted property within the District.  
Operating and Maintenance Assessments are based upon adopted budget and levied annually 
at a public hearing of the District.  Debt Service Assessments are levied when bonds are issued 
and collected annually.  The District may collect assessments directly or utilize the uniform 
method of collection (Chapter 197.3632, Florida Statutes).  Direct collected assessments are 
due as determined by annual assessment resolution adopted by the Board of Supervisors.  
Assessments collected under the uniform method are due and payable on November 1 or as 
soon as the assessment roll is certified and delivered to the Tax Collector.  Per Section 
197.162, Florida Statutes, discounts are allowed for early payment at the rate of 4% in 
November, 3% in December, 2% in January, and 1% in February.  Taxes paid in March are 
without discount.    
 
Assessments and interest associated with the current fiscal period are all considered to be 
susceptible to accrual and so have been recognized as revenues of the current fiscal period.  
Only the portion of assessments receivable due within the current fiscal period is considered to 
be susceptible to accrual as revenue of the current period.  All other revenue items are 
considered to be measurable and available only when cash is received by the government. 
 
NOTE I – INTERLOCAL AGREEMENTS 
 
In January 2004, the District entered into a cost sharing agreement with Middle Village 
Community Development District (“Middle Village”) for the maintenance of certain landscape 
improvements for which both Districts benefit.  In accordance with the interlocal agreement, 
Middle Village will perform the required maintenance and the District will provide 31% of the 
costs incurred to perform the maintenance.  For the fiscal year ended September 30, 2019, the 
costs related to the maintenance incurred by Middle Village was approximately $115,784, of 
which $35,754 was reimbursed to Middle Village by the District in connection with the 
agreement.  
 
 



South Village Community Development District 
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

September 30, 2019 
 

- 20 - 

NOTE A – SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
 
The financial statements of the District have been prepared in conformity with generally 
accepted accounting principles (GAAP) as applied to governmental units.  The Governmental 
Accounting Standards Board (GASB) is the accepted standard-setting body for establishing 
governmental accounting and financial reporting principles.  The District's more significant 
accounting policies are described below. 
 
1. Reporting Entity 
 

The District was established on April 28, 2003, pursuant the Uniform Community 
Development District Act of 1980, Chapter 190, Florida Statutes, as amended (the “Act”) by 
Ordinances Number 2003-36 as amended by ordinance number 2004-67 of the Clay County 
Board of County Commissioners, as a Community Development District.  The District was 
established for the purposes of financing and managing the acquisition, construction, 
maintenance and operation of the infrastructure necessary for community development 
within its jurisdiction.  The District is authorized to issue bonds for the purpose, among 
others, of financing, funding, planning, establishing, acquiring, constructing or re-
constructing, enlarging or extending, equipping, operating and maintaining water 
management, bridges or culverts, district roads, landscaping, street lights and other basic 
infrastructure projects within or without the boundaries of the South Village Community 
Development District.  The District is governed by a five-member Board of Supervisors who 
are elected by qualified electors of the District for four year terms.  The District operates 
within the criteria established by Chapter 190. 
 
As required by GAAP, these financial statements present the South Village Community 
Development District (the primary government) as a stand-alone government.  The reporting 
entity for the District includes all functions of government in which the District’s Board 
exercises oversight responsibility including, but not limited to, financial interdependency, 
selection of governing authority, designation of management, significant ability to influence 
operations and accountability for fiscal matters. 
 
Based upon the application of the above-mentioned criteria as set forth by the Governmental 
Accounting Standards Board, the District has identified no component units. 

 
2.  Measurement Focus and Basis of Accounting 
 

The basic financial statements of the District are composed of the following: 
 

 Government-wide financial statements 
 

 Fund financial statements 
 

 Notes to financial statements 



South Village Community Development District 
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

September 30, 2019 
 

- 21 - 

NOTE A – SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 
 
2.  Measurement Focus and Basis of Accounting (Continued) 
 
  a. Government-wide Financial Statements 
 

Government-wide financial statements report all non-fiduciary information about the 
reporting government as a whole.  These statements include separate columns for the 
governmental and business-type activities of the primary government.  For the most part, 
the effect of interfund activity has been removed from these statements. 
 
Governmental activities, which normally are supported by special assessments and 
interest, are reported separately from business-type activities.  Program revenues 
include charges for services and grants and contribution.  Program revenues are netted 
with program expenses in the Statement of Activities to present the net cost of each 
program. 
 
Amounts paid to acquire capital assets are capitalized as assets, rather than reported as 
an expenditure.  Proceeds of long-term debt are recorded as liabilities in the 
government-wide financial statements, rather than as an other financing source. 
 
Amounts paid to reduce long-term indebtedness of the reporting government are 
reported as a reduction of the related liability, rather than as an expenditure. 

 
  b. Fund Financial Statements 
 

The underlying accounting system of the District is organized and operated on the basis 
of separate funds, each of which is considered to be a separate accounting entity.  The 
operations of each fund are accounted for with a separate set of self-balancing accounts 
that comprise its assets, liabilities, fund equity, revenues and expenditures or expenses, 
as appropriate.  Governmental resources are allocated to and accounted for in individual 
funds based upon the purposes for which they are to be spent and the means by which 
spending activities are controlled. 
 
Fund financial statements for the primary government’s governmental funds are 
presented after the government-wide financial statements.  These statements display 
information about major funds individually. 
 
Governmental Funds  
 
Governmental fund financial statements are reported using the current financial 
resources measurement focus and the modified accrual basis of accounting.  Revenues 
are considered to be available when they are collected within the current period or soon 
thereafter to pay liabilities of the current period.  For this purpose, the District considers 
revenues to be available if they are collected within 60 days of the end of the current 
fiscal period 



South Village Community Development District 
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

September 30, 2019 
 

- 22 - 

NOTE A – SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 
 

2.  Measurement Focus and Basis of Accounting (Continued) 
 

  b. Fund Financial Statements (Continued) 
 

Governmental Funds (Continued) 
 

Expenditures generally are recorded when a liability is incurred, as under accrual 
accounting.  Interest associated with the current fiscal period is considered to be an 
accrual item and so has been recognized as revenue of the current fiscal period.   
 

Under the current financial resources measurement focus, only current assets and 
current liabilities are generally included on the balance sheet.  The reported fund 
balance is considered to be a measure of “available spendable resources”.  
Governmental fund operating statements present increases (revenues and other 
financing sources) and decreases (expenditures and other financing uses) in net 
position.  Accordingly, they are said to present a summary of sources and uses of 
“available spendable resources” during a period. 
 

Because of their spending measurement focus, expenditure recognition for 
governmental fund types excludes amounts represented by non-current liabilities.  Since 
they do not affect net current assets, such long-term amounts are not recognized as 
governmental fund type expenditures or fund liabilities. 
 

Amounts expended to acquire capital assets are recorded as expenditures in the year 
that resources are expended, rather than as fund assets.  The proceeds of long-term 
debt are recorded as other financing source rather than as a fund liability. 
 

Debt service expenditures are recorded only when payment is due. 
 

The District classifies fund balance according to Governmental Accounting Standards 
Board Statement 54 – Fund Balance Reporting and Governmental Fund Type 
Definitions. The Statement requires the fund balance for governmental funds to be 
reported in classifications that comprise a hierarchy based primarily on the extent to 
which the government is bound to honor constraints on the specific purposes for which 
amounts in those funds can be spent.  
 

The District has various policies governing the fund balance classifications. 
 

Nonspendable Fund Balance – This classification consists of amounts that cannot be 
spent because they are either not in spendable form or are legally or contractually 
required to be maintained intact.  
 

Restricted Fund Balance – This classification includes amounts that can be spent only 
for specific purposes stipulated by constitution, external resource providers, or through 
enabling legislation. 
 

 Committed Fund Balance – This classification includes amounts for specific purposes 
adopted by the Board with a resolution or contractual obligations which require a formal 
approval from the Board and the funding has been set aside for the purpose. This type 
of fund balance can only be removed by the Board through the same approval process.  



South Village Community Development District 
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

September 30, 2019 
 

- 23 - 

 
NOTE A – SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 
 
2.  Measurement Focus and Basis of Accounting (Continued) 
 
  b. Fund Financial Statements (Continued) 
 

Governmental Funds (Continued) 
 
Assigned Fund Balance – This classification consists of the Board of Supervisors’ intent 
to be used for specific purposes but are neither restricted nor committed. The assigned 
fund balances can also be assigned by the District’s management company. 
 
Unassigned Fund Balance – This classification is the residual classification for the 
government’s general fund and includes all spendable amounts not contained in the 
other classifications.  Unassigned fund balance is considered to be utilized first when an 
expenditure is incurred for purposes for which amounts in any of those unrestricted fund 
balance classifications could be used. 
 
Fund Balance Spending Hierarchy – For all governmental funds except special revenue 
funds, when restricted, committed, assigned, and unassigned fund balances are 
combined in a fund, qualified expenditures are paid first from restricted or committed 
fund balance, as appropriate, then assigned and finally unassigned fund balances. 
 
Enterprise Funds 
 
In the fund financial statements, the enterprise fund is presented using the accrual basis 
of accounting.  Revenues are recognized when they are earned and expenses are 
recognized when the related goods or services are delivered.  In the fund financial 
statements, enterprise funds are presented using the economic resources measurement 
focus.  This means that all assets and all liabilities (whether current or non-current) 
associated with their activity are included on their balance sheets.  Enterprise fund 
operating statements present increases (revenues) and decreases (expenses) in total 
net position.  The District applies all GASB pronouncements as well as FASB 
Statements and Interpretations, APB Opinions and Accounting Research Bulletins, 
issued on or before November 30, 1989, which do not conflict with, or contradict, GASB 
pronouncements.  

 
3.  Basis of Presentation 
 
      a.   Governmental Major Funds 
 

General Fund – The General Fund is the District’s primary operating fund.  It accounts 
for all financial resources of the general government, except those required to be 
accounted for in another fund. 
 
Recreation Fund – The Recreation Fund is a special revenue fund established to 
account for the financial resources of the District’s recreation areas. 



South Village Community Development District 
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

September 30, 2019 
 

- 24 - 

NOTE A – SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 
 
3.  Basis of Presentation (Continued) 
 
 a. Governmental Major Funds (Continued) 
 

2016A-1/A-2 Debt Service Fund – The 2016A-1/A-2 Debt Service Fund accounts for 
debt service requirements to retire the capital improvement revenue and refunding 
bonds, Series 2016A-1 and Series 2016A-2. 

 
2016A-3 Debt Service Fund – The 2016A-3 Debt Service Fund accounts for debt 
service requirements to retire the capital improvement revenue and refunding bonds, 
Series 2016A-3. 
 
2019 Debt Service Fund – The 2019 Debt Service Fund accounts for debt service 
requirements to retire the capital improvement revenue, Series 2019A and 2019B. 

 
2016A-1/A-2 Capital Projects Fund – The Capital Projects Fund accounts for the 
proceeds from Long-Term debt issued in 2016 through Series 2016 A-1 and A-2 Capital 
Improvement Revenue and Refunding Bonds for the acquisition or construction of major 
infrastructure within the District.  

 
2016A-3 Capital Projects Fund – The Capital Projects Fund accounts for the proceeds 
from Long-Term debt issued in 2016 through Series 2016 A-3 Capital Improvement 
Revenue and Refunding Bonds for the acquisition or construction of major infrastructure 
within the District. 

 
2019 Capital Projects Fund – The Capital Projects Fund accounts for the proceeds from 
long-term debt issued in 2019 for the acquisition or construction of major infrastructure 
within the District. 

 
Capital Reserve Fund – The Capital Reserve Fund accounts for the funds set aside to 
ensure the District has adequate funding for ongoing and future projects. 

 
 b. Enterprise Major Fund 
 

Enterprise Fund – The Enterprise Fund accounts for the operations of the Golf Course, 
Pro Shop and Restaurant, which are funded by proceeds from operations of these 
facilities, including green fees, cart fees and member dues in the form of annual special 
assessments. 

 
 c. Non-current Governmental Assets/Liabilities 
 

GASB Statement 34 requires that non-current governmental assets, such as land and 
buildings, and non-current governmental liabilities, such as general obligation bonds, be 
reported in the governmental activities column in the government-wide Statement of Net 
Position. 
 

 



South Village Community Development District 
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

September 30, 2019 
 

- 25 - 

NOTE A – SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 
 
4. Assets, Liabilities, and Net Position or Equity 
 

a. Cash and Investments 
 
Florida Statutes require state and local governmental units to deposit monies with 
financial institutions classified as "Qualified Public Depositories," a multiple financial 
institution pool whereby groups of securities pledged by the various financial institutions 
provide common collateral from their deposits of public funds.  This pool is provided as 
additional insurance to the federal depository insurance and allows for additional 
assessments against the member institutions, providing full insurance for public 
deposits.  

 

The District is authorized to invest in those financial instruments as established by 
Section 218.415, Florida Statutes.  The authorized investments consist of: 

 

1. Direct obligations of the United States Treasury; 
2. The Local Government Surplus Funds Trust or any intergovernmental investment 

pool authorized pursuant to the Florida Interlocal Cooperative Act of 1969; 
3. Interest-bearing time deposits or savings accounts in authorized qualified public 

depositories; 
4. Securities and Exchange Commission, registered money market funds with the 

highest credit quality rating from a nationally recognized rating agency. 
 

For purposes of the statement of cash flows, cash equivalents include time deposits, 
certificates of deposit and all highly liquid debt instruments with original maturities of 
three months or less and held in a qualified public depository as defined by Chapter 
280.02, Florida Statutes. 

  

 b. Receivables and Payables 
 

Activity between funds that are representative of lending/borrowing arrangements 
outstanding at the end of the fiscal year are referred to as "due to/from other funds".  
Any residual balances outstanding between the governmental activities and business-
type activities are reported as "internal balances". 

 
 c. Inventories 
 

Inventories are recorded at cost using the first in-first out basis and recognized as 
expenses as they are consumed. 

 
 d. Restricted Assets 
 

Certain assets of the District and a corresponding liability or portion of net position is 
classified as restricted assets on the statement of net position because their use is 
limited either by law through constitutional provisions or enabling legislation; or by 
restrictions imposed externally by creditors.  In a fund with both restricted and 
unrestricted assets, qualified expenses are considered to be paid first from restricted net 
position and then from unrestricted net position. 



South Village Community Development District 
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

September 30, 2019 
 

- 26 - 

NOTE A – SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 
 
4. Assets, Liabilities, and Net Position or Equity (Continued) 

 
 e. Capital Assets 
 

Capital assets, which include land, construction in progress, infrastructure, recreation 
facilities, and equipment, are reported in governmental activities. 

 

The District defines capital assets as assets with an initial, individual cost of $5,000 or 
more and an estimated useful life in excess of two years.  The valuation basis for all 
assets is historical cost.   
 

The costs of normal maintenance and repairs that do not add to the value of the asset or 
materially extend its useful life are not capitalized.  Major outlays for capital assets and 
improvements are capitalized as projects are constructed. 
 

Depreciation of capital assets is computed and recorded by utilizing the straight-line 
method.  Estimated useful lives of the various classes of depreciable capital assets are 
as follows: 
 

  Infrastructure and recreation facilities  30 years 
  Equipment 10 years 
 
 f. Budgets 
 

Budgets are prepared and adopted after public hearings for the governmental funds, 
pursuant to Chapter 190, Florida Statutes.  The District utilizes the same basis of 
accounting for budgets as it does for revenues and expenditures in its various funds.  
Formal budgets are adopted for the general fund.  The legal level of budgetary control is 
at the fund level.  As a result, deficits in the budget columns of the accompanying 
financial statements may occur.  All budgeted appropriations lapse at year end. 

 
 g. Deferred Outflows of Resources 
 

Deferred outflows of resources represent a consumption of net position that applies to 
future periods.  The District reported a deferred amount on refunding on the Statement 
of Net Position.  A deferred amount on refunding results from the difference in the 
carrying value of refunded debt and its reacquisition price.  This amount is deferred and 
amortized over the shorter of the life of the refunded or refunding debt. 
 

 h. Unamortized Bond Discount 
 

Bond discounts are presented on the government-wide financial statements.  The costs 
are amortized over the life of the bonds.  For financial reporting, the unamortized bond 
discount is netted against the applicable long-term debt. 
 
 
 
 



South Village Community Development District 
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

September 30, 2019 
 

- 27 - 

NOTE B – RECONCILIATION OF GOVERNMENT-WIDE AND FUND FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS 

 
1. Explanation of Differences Between the Governmental Fund Balance Sheet and the 

Government-wide Statement of Net Position 
 

“Total fund balances” of the District’s governmental funds ($5,220,444) differs from “net 
position” of governmental activities ($(10,416,087)) reported in the Statement of Net 
Position.  This difference primarily results from the long-term economic focus of the 
Statement of Net Position versus the current financial resources focus of the Governmental 
Fund Balance Sheet.  The effect of the differences is illustrated as follows: 

 
Capital related items 
 

When capital assets (that are to be used in governmental activities) are purchased or 
constructed, the cost of those assets is reported as expenditures in governmental funds.  
However, the Statement of Net Position included those capital assets among the assets of 
the District as a whole. 

 
  Construction in progress     $         2,901,502 
  Infrastructure                             $5,283,667 
  Recreation facilities               11,607,239 
  Equipment                         197,945 
  Accumulated depreciation                (6,090,553) 
   Total                  $       13,899,800  
    

Long-term debt transactions 
 

Long-term liabilities applicable to the District’s governmental activities are not due and 
payable in the current period and accordingly are not reported as fund liabilities.  All 
liabilities (both current and long-term) are reported in the Statement of Net Position.  
Balances at September 30, 2019 were:   

   
 Bonds payable                                                                      $        ($29,725,000)  
 Bond discount, net                497,216   
           Total $       (29,227,784)  

 
Deferred outflows of resources 
 
Deferred outflows of resources applicable to the District's governmental activities are not 
financial resources and therefore, are not reported as fund deferred outflows of resources. 

 
  Deferred amount on refunding       $              214,677       



South Village Community Development District 
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

September 30, 2019 
 

- 28 - 

NOTE B – RECONCILIATION OF GOVERNMENT-WIDE AND FUND FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 

 
1. Explanation of Differences Between the Governmental Fund Balance Sheet and the 

Government-wide Statement of Net Position (Continued) 
 
Accrued interest 
 
Accrued liabilities in the Statement of Net Position differ from the amount reported in 
governmental funds due to the accrued interest on bonds. 

 
  Accrued interest                    $           ($523,224)      
 
2. Explanation of Differences Between the Governmental Fund Operating Statements 

and the Statement of Activities 
 

The “net change in fund balances” for government funds ($2,394,456) differs from the 
“change in net position” for governmental activities ($952,413) reported in the Statement of 
Activities.  The differences arise primarily from the long-term economic focus of the 
Statement of Activities versus the current financial resources focus of the governmental 
funds.  The effect of the differences is illustrated below. 
 
Capital related items 
 
When capital assets that are to be used in governmental activities are purchased or 
constructed, the resources expended for those assets are reported as expenditures in 
governmental funds.  However, in the Statement of Activities, the costs of those assets is 
allocated over their estimated useful lives and reported as depreciation.  As a result, fund 
balances decrease by the amount of financial resources expended, whereas net position 
decrease by the amount of depreciation charged for the year. 
 

  Capital outlay                                             $       3,052,606 
  Depreciation                         (714,320) 
   Net Change                                   $       2,338,286  
 

Long-term debt transactions 
 
Repayments of bond principal are reported as an expenditure in the governmental funds 
and, thus, have the effect of reducing fund balance because current financial resources 
have been used. 
 

 Bond principal payments $       1,315,000 
 Issuance of long-term debt         (4,955,000)  
 Amortization of bond discount              (31,906) 
               Total $      (3,671,906) 
 
          
 
 



South Village Community Development District 
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

September 30, 2019 
 

- 29 - 

 
NOTE B – RECONCILIATION OF GOVERNMENT-WIDE AND FUND FINANCIAL 

STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 

2. Explanation of Differences Between the Governmental Fund Operating Statements 
and the Statement of Activities (Continued) 
 
Long-term debt transactions (Continued) 
 
Some expenses reported in the Statement of Activities do not require the use of current 
financial resources, therefore, are not reported as expenditures in governmental funds. 

 
  Net change in accrued interest payable    $          (94,647) 
  Decrease in deferred amount on refunding                (13,776) 
   Total        $        (108,423) 
 
NOTE C – CASH AND INVESTMENTS 
 
All deposits are held in qualified public depositories and are included on the accompanying 
balance sheet as cash and investments.   
 
Custodial Credit Risk – Deposits 
 
Custodial credit risk is the risk that in the event of a bank failure, the District's deposits may not 
be returned to it.  The District does not have a formal deposit policy for custodial credit risk, 
however, they follow the provisions of Chapter 280, Florida Statutes regarding deposits and 
investments.  As of September 30, 2019, the District's bank balance was $603,708 and the 
carrying value was $615,211.  Exposure to custodial credit risk was as follows. The District 
maintains all deposits in a qualified public depository in accordance with the provisions of 
Chapter 280, Florida Statutes, which means that all deposits are fully insured by Federal 
Depositors Insurance or collateralized under Chapter 280, Florida Statutes. 
 
As of September 30, 2019, the District had the following investments and maturities: 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 

Investment Maturities Fair Value

SBA Local Gov't Surplus Trust Fund
    Florida Prime 37 days * 519,837$      
First American Government
    Obligation Fund 24 days * 5,170,531     

Total 5,690,368$   

* Weighted Average Maturity



South Village Community Development District 
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

September 30, 2019 
 

- 30 - 

 
NOTE C – CASH AND INVESTMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 
The District categorizes its fair value measurements within the fair value hierarchy recently 
established by generally accepted accounting principles. The fair value is the price that would 
be received to sell an asset, or paid to transfer a liability, in an orderly transaction between 
market participants at the measurement date. The hierarchy is based on the valuation inputs 
used to measure the fair value of the asset. The District uses a market approach in measuring 
fair value that uses prices and other relevant information generated by market transactions 
involving identical or similar assets, liabilities, or groups of assets and liabilities. 
 
Assets or liabilities are classified into one of three levels. Level 1 is the most reliable and is 
based on quoted price for identical assets, or liabilities, in an active market. Level 2 uses 
significant other observable inputs when obtaining quoted prices for identical or similar assets, 
or liabilities, in markets that are not active. Level 3 is the least reliable and uses significant 
unobservable inputs that uses the best information available under the circumstances, which 
includes the District’s own data in measuring unobservable inputs. 
 
Based on the criteria in the preceding paragraph, the investment in First American Government 
Obligation Fund is a Level 1 asset.  
 
Investments 
 
The District’s investment policy allows management to invest funds in investments permitted 
under Section 218.415, Florida Statutes.   
 
Cash placed with the State Board of Administration represents the District’s participation in the 
Local Government Surplus Trust Funds Investment Pool and is reported at fair value. 
 
Interest Rate Risk 
 
The District does not have a formal investment policy that limits investment maturities as a 
means of managing its exposure to fair value losses arising from increasing interest rates. 
 
Credit Risk 
 
The District's investments in are limited by state statutory requirements and bond compliance.  
The District has no investment policy that would further limit its investment choices. The Local 
Government Surplus Funds Trust is an authorized investment under Section 218.415, Florida 
Statutes. The District's investments in the state investment pool and government loans are 
limited by state statutory requirements and bond compliance. The District had monies invested 
with the Local Government Surplus Funds Trust Fund (Fund), at September 30, 2019. This fund 
met the requirements of a "2-7a like pool" as defined in Government Accounting Standards 
Board, Statement 31. As of September 30, 2019, the District's investments in the First American 
Government Obligation Fund Class Y and Local Government Surplus Funds were rated AAAm 
by Standard & Poor's.  



South Village Community Development District 
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

September 30, 2019 
 

- 31 - 

NOTE C – CASH AND INVESTMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 
Concentration of Credit Risk 
 
The District places no limit on the amount it may invest in any one issuer. The investment in 
First American Government Obligation Funds represents 91% of the District's total investments 
and investment in Local Government Surplus Funds Trust represents 9% of the District's total 
investments.  
 
The types of deposits and investments and their level of risk exposure as of September 30, 
2019 were typical of these items during the fiscal year then ended.  The District considers any 
decline in fair value to be temporary.  
  
NOTE D – CAPITAL ASSETS 
 

Capital Asset activity for the year ended September 30, 2019 was as follows: 
 

 Balance Balance
10/1/2018 Additions Deletions 9/30/2019

Governmental Activities:

Capital assets, not being depreciated

Construction in progress -$                   2,901,502$  -$               2,901,502$   

Capital assets, being depreciated:
   Infrastructure 5,283,667      -                  -                 5,283,667     
   Recreation facilities 11,456,135    151,104       -                 11,607,239   
   Equipment 197,945         -                  -                 197,945        
Total Capital Assets, Being Depreciated 16,937,747    151,104       -                 17,088,851   

Less accumulated depreciation for:
   Infrastructure (1,372,561)     (243,719)     -                 (1,616,280)    
   Recreation facilities (3,920,135)     (435,947)     -                 (4,356,082)    
   Equipment (83,537)          (34,654)       -                 (118,191)       
Total Accumulated Depreciation (5,376,233)     (714,320)     -                 (6,090,553)    
Total Capital Assets Depreciated, Net 11,561,514    (563,216)     -                 10,998,298   

Governmental Activities Capital Assets, Net 11,561,514$  2,338,286$  -$               13,899,800$ 

The infrastructure intended to serve the District has been estimated at a total cost of 
approximately $49 million.  The infrastructure includes roadways, stormwater management 
system, water and sewer facilities, recreational facilities, and other related infrastructure.  A 
portion of the project costs were financed with the proceeds from the Series 2005A Bonds while 
the remainder will be funded by additional bonds and the Developer.  In a prior fiscal year, 
certain improvements were conveyed to other entities for ownership and maintenance 
responsibilities. 
 
Depreciation was charged to physical environment, $278,373, and culture/recreation, $435,947. 
 



South Village Community Development District 
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

September 30, 2019 
 

- 32 - 

NOTE D – CAPITAL ASSETS (CONTINUED) 
 
The following is a summary of changes in the Business-type Activities capital assets for the year 
ended September 30, 2019. 

Balance Balance
10/1/2018 Additions Deletions 9/30/2019

Capital assets, not being depreciated:
   Land  $  1,359,781  $                -  $           -  $   1,359,781 
   Construction in progress             2,040                    -               -              2,040 
Total Capital Assets, Not Depreciated      1,361,821                    -               -       1,361,821 

Capital assets, being depreciated:
   Infrastructure         405,000                    -               -          405,000 
   Recreation facilities         738,577                    -               -          738,577 
   Equipment         223,973                    -      (4,000)          219,973 
Total Capital Assets, Being Depreciated      1,367,550                    -      (4,000)       1,363,550 

Less accumulated depreciation for:
   Infrastructure          (30,375)         (13,500)               -          (43,875)
   Recreation facilities          (51,103)         (24,619)               -          (75,722)
   Equipment          (44,935)         (21,997)       1,332          (65,600)
Total accumulated depreciation        (126,413)         (60,116)       1,332        (185,197)
Total capital assets depreciated, net      1,241,137         (60,116)      (2,668)       1,178,353 

Business-Type Activities Capital Assets  $  2,602,958  $     (60,116)  $  (2,668)  $   2,540,174 

Depreciation was charged to the golf course, $35,497 and the restaurant, $24,619. 
 
NOTE E – INTERFUND BALANCES 
 
Interfund balances at September 30, 2019, consisted of the following: 
 

Receivable Fund General Fund Recreation Enterprise Fund Total
General Fund -$                      43,699$            -$                      43,699$   
Recreation 3,765                -                        49,218              52,983     
Enterprise Fund 20,000              25,870              -                        45,870     
          Total 23,765$            69,569$            49,218$            142,552$ 

Payable Fund

 
Interfund balances are related to credit card usage, payroll and expenditures paid by one fund 
for another fund. The amounts will be repaid in the next fiscal year. 



South Village Community Development District 
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

September 30, 2019 
 

- 33 - 

 
NOTE F – LONG-TERM DEBT 
 
The following is a summary of debt activity for the District for the year ended September 30, 
2019. 
 

Balance Balance
October 1, September 30,

2018 Additions Deletions 2019
Capital Improvement Revenue
      and Refunding Bonds
      Series 2016A-1 15,840,000$   -$                   680,000$       15,160,000$   
Capital Improvement Revenue
      and Refunding Bonds
      Series 2016A-2 5,095,000       -                     200,000         4,895,000       
Capital Improvement Revenue
      and Refunding Bonds
      Series 2016A-3 5,150,000       -                     435,000         4,715,000       
Capital Improvement Revenue
      Bonds Series 2019A -                      3,255,000      -                     3,255,000       
Capital Improvement Revenue
      Bonds Series 2019B -                      1,700,000      -                     1,700,000       

Bonds Payable 26,085,000$   4,955,000$    1,315,000$    29,725,000$   
357

 



South Village Community Development District 
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

September 30, 2019 
 

- 34 - 

NOTE F – LONG-TERM DEBT (CONTINUED) 
 
Long-term debt is comprised of the following: 
 
Capital Improvement Revenue and Refunding Bonds 
 
$17,075,000 Series 2016A-1 Capital Improvement Revenue and 
Refunding Bonds due in annual principal installments beginning May 
2017.  Interest at various rates between 2.00% and 3.75% is due 
May and November beginning November 2017.  Current portion is 
$610,000. $    15,160,000 
 
$5,480,000 Series 2016A-2 Capital Improvement Revenue and 
Refunding Bonds due in annual principal installments beginning May 
2017.  Interest at various rates between 4.35% and 5.00% is due 
May and November beginning November 2017.  Current portion is 
$175,000.         4,895,000 
 
$5,530,000 Series 2016A-3 Capital Improvement Revenue and 
Refunding Bonds due in annual principal installments beginning May 
2017.  Interest at various rates between 5.50% and 6.00% is due 
May and November beginning November 2017.  Current portion is 
$100,000.         4,715,000 
 
$3,255,000 Series 2019A Capital Improvement Revenue and Bonds 
due in annual principal installments beginning May 2020.  Interest at 
various rates between 4.75% and 5.60% is due May and November 
beginning May 2019.  Current portion is $45,000.         3,255,000 
 
$1,700,000 Series 2019B Capital Improvement Revenue and Bonds 
due in annual principal installments beginning May 2020.  Interest at 
a fixed rate of 5.60% is due May and November beginning May 2019.  
           1,700,000 
 
  Bonds payable       29,725,000 
  Bond discount, net           (497,216) 
    Bonds Payable, net $    29,227,784  



South Village Community Development District 
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

September 30, 2019 
 

- 35 - 

 
NOTE F – LONG-TERM DEBT (CONTINUED) 
 
The annual requirements to amortize the principal and interest of bonded debt outstanding as of 
September 30, 2019 are as follows:  

    Year Ending
   September 30, Principal Interest Total

2020  $        930,000  $      1,251,902  $     2,181,902 
2021            965,000          1,222,565         2,187,565 
2022            995,000          1,193,692         2,188,692 
2023         1,025,000          1,163,016         2,188,016 
2024         1,055,000          1,129,666         2,184,666 

2025-2029         7,620,000          4,953,241       12,573,241 
2030-2034         7,310,000          3,242,914       10,552,914 
2035-2039         6,640,000          1,595,440         8,235,440 
2040-2044         1,745,000             673,540         2,418,540 
2045-2049         1,440,000             203,970         1,643,970 

Totals  $   29,725,000  $    16,629,946  $   46,354,946 

 
Summary of Significant Bonds Resolution Terms and Covenants  
 
Depository Funds – The bond resolution establishes certain funds and determines the order in 
which revenues are to be deposited into these funds.  A description of the significant funds, 
including their purposes, is as follows: 
 
1. Reserve Fund – The Series 2016A-1 and 2016A-2 Capital Improvement Revenue and 
Refunding Bonds Reserve Accounts are funded from the proceeds of the Bonds in an amount 
equal to fifty percent of the Maximum Annual Debt Service Requirement for the respective bond. 
The Series 2016A-3 Capital Improvement Revenue and Refunding Bonds is funded from the 
proceeds of the Bonds in an amount equal to thirty-five percent of the Maximum Annual Debt 
Service Requirement for the Series 2016A-3 Bonds. The Series 2019A Capital Improvement 
Revenue Bonds is funded from the proceeds of the Bonds in an amount equal to twenty-five 
percent of the Maximum Annual Debt Service Requirement for the Series 2019A Bonds.  
Monies held in the reserve accounts will be used only for the purposes established in the Trust 
Indenture. 
 

Reserve 
Balance

Reserve 
Requirement

Series 2016A-1 Capital Improvement Revenue and Refunding Bond  $     555,752  $     534,071 
Series 2016A-2 Capital Improvement Revenue and Refunding Bond  $     205,091  $     198,592 
Series 2016A-3 Capital Improvement Revenue and Refunding Bond  $     143,837  $     126,648 
Series 2019A Capital Improvement Revenue and Refunding Bond  $       56,199  $       55,930  

 
 
 



South Village Community Development District 
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

September 30, 2019 
 

- 36 - 

NOTE G – OPERATING LEASES 
 
The District leases golf carts and equipment under various operating lease agreements.  The 
lease terms range from 42 to 60 months.  During the year, golf cart and equipment lease 
payments totaled $104,412.  The future minimum payments on the leases are as follows: 
 

Year Ending Business-type
September 30, Activities

2020  $            104,412 
2021                  46,936 
2022                  34,291 

Total  $            185,639 

 
NOTE H – SPECIAL ASSESSMENT REVENUES 
 
Assessments are non-ad valorem assessments on benefitted property within the District.  
Operating and Maintenance Assessments are based upon adopted budget and levied annually 
at a public hearing of the District.  Debt Service Assessments are levied when bonds are issued 
and collected annually.  The District may collect assessments directly or utilize the uniform 
method of collection (Chapter 197.3632, Florida Statutes).  Direct collected assessments are 
due as determined by annual assessment resolution adopted by the Board of Supervisors.  
Assessments collected under the uniform method are due and payable on November 1 or as 
soon as the assessment roll is certified and delivered to the Tax Collector.  Per Section 
197.162, Florida Statutes, discounts are allowed for early payment at the rate of 4% in 
November, 3% in December, 2% in January, and 1% in February.  Taxes paid in March are 
without discount.    
 

Assessments and interest associated with the current fiscal period are all considered to be 
susceptible to accrual and so have been recognized as revenues of the current fiscal period.  
Only the portion of assessments receivable due within the current fiscal period is considered to 
be susceptible to accrual as revenue of the current period.  All other revenue items are 
considered to be measurable and available only when cash is received by the government. 
 
NOTE I – INTERLOCAL AGREEMENTS 
 
In January 2004, the District entered into a cost sharing agreement with Middle Village 
Community Development District (“Middle Village”) for the maintenance of certain landscape 
improvements for which both Districts benefit.  In accordance with the interlocal agreement, 
Middle Village will perform the required maintenance and the District will provide 31% of the 
costs incurred to perform the maintenance.  For the fiscal year ended September 30, 2019, the 
costs related to the maintenance incurred by Middle Village was approximately $115,784, of 
which $35,754 was reimbursed to Middle Village by the District in connection with the 
agreement.  
 
 



South Village Community Development District 
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

September 30, 2019 
 

- 37 - 

 
NOTE J – DEVELOPER AGREEMENTS 
 
The Developer owns a portion of the land within the District; therefore, assessment revenues in 
the general, recreation, and debt service funds include assessments levied on the Developer 
owned property. 
 
NOTE K – MANAGEMENT AGREEMENTS 
 
The District has contracted with a management company to perform management services, 
which include financial and accounting services.  Certain employees of the management 
company also serve as officers of the District.   
 
The District has also contracted with an additional management company to perform 
management services, including managing, operating, maintaining, and supervising the 
recreation facilities and golf course of the District.  Under these agreements, the District 
compensates the management company for management, accounting, financial reporting, 
computer and other administrative costs. 
 
NOTE L – RISK MANAGEMENT 
 
The government is exposed to various risks of loss related to torts; theft of, damage to and 
destruction of assets; errors and omissions; and natural disasters for which the government 
carries commercial insurance. Settled claims from these risks have not exceeded commercial 
insurance coverage over the past three years.  
 
NOTE M – SUBSEQUENT EVENT 
 
At various times subsequent to year end, the District made prepayments of $30,000, $10,000, 
and $180,000 on the Series 2016 A-1, A-2 and A-3 Capital Improvement Revenue and 
Refunding Bonds, respectively. 
 



- 38 - 

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT ON INTERNAL CONTROL OVER FINANCIAL 
REPORTING AND ON COMPLIANCE AND OTHER MATTERS BASED ON AN AUDIT 

OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS PERFORMED IN ACCORDANCE WITH 
GOVERNMENT AUDITING STANDARDS 

 
 

To the Board of Supervisors 
South Village Community Development District 
Clay County, Florida 
 
 
We have audited, in accordance with the auditing standards generally accepted in the United 
States of America and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government 
Auditing Standards issued by the Comptroller General of the United States, the financial 
statements of South Village Community Development District, as of and for the year ended 
September 30, 2019, and the related notes to the financial statements, and have issued our 
report thereon dated August 26, 2020.  
 
Internal Control Over Financial Reporting 
 
In planning and performing our audit, we considered South Village Community Development 
District's internal control over financial reporting to determine the audit procedures that are 
appropriate in the circumstances for the purpose of expressing our opinions on the financial 
statements, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of South 
Village Community Development District’s internal control.  Accordingly, we do not express an 
opinion on the effectiveness of South Village Community Development District's internal control 
over financial reporting. 
 
A deficiency in internal control exists when the design or operation of a control does not allow 
management or employees, in the normal course of performing their assigned functions, to 
prevent, or detect and correct misstatements on a timely basis. A material weakness is a 
deficiency, or combination of deficiencies, in internal control, such that there is a reasonable 
possibility that a material misstatement of the entity's financial statements will not be prevented, 
or detected and corrected on a timely basis.  A significant deficiency is a deficiency, or a 
combination of deficiencies, in internal control that is less severe than a material weakness, yet 
important enough to merit attention by those charged with governance. 
 
Our consideration of internal control over financial reporting was for the limited purpose 
described in the first paragraph of this section and was not designed to identify all deficiencies 
in internal control that might be material weaknesses or significant deficiencies.  Given these 
limitations, during our audit we did not identify any deficiencies in internal control that we 
consider to be material weaknesses.  However, material weaknesses may exist that have not 
been identified. 



- 39 - 

To the Board of Supervisors 
South Village Community Development District 
Clay County, Florida 
 
 
Compliance and Other Matters 
 
As part of obtaining reasonable assurance about whether South Village Community 
Development District's financial statements are free of material misstatement, we performed 
tests of its compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts, and grant 
agreements, noncompliance with which could have a direct and material effect on the 
determination of financial statement amounts. However, providing an opinion on compliance 
with those provisions was not an objective of our audit, and accordingly, we do not express such 
an opinion. The results of our tests disclosed no instances of noncompliance or other matters 
that are required to be reported under Government Auditing Standards.  
 
Purpose of this Report 
 
The purpose of this report is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal control and 
compliance and the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the effectiveness of 
the entity’s internal control or on compliance.  This report is an integral part of an audit 
performed in accordance with Government Auditing Standards in considering the entity’s 
internal control and compliance. Accordingly, this communication is not suitable for any other 
purpose. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Berger, Toombs, Elam, Gaines & Frank 
Certified Public Accountants PL 
Fort Pierce, Florida 
 
August 26, 2020 
 

audit
BTEGF



- 40 - 

 
 
 

MANAGEMENT LETTER 
 
To the Board of Supervisors 
South Village Community Development District 
Clay County, Florida 
 
Report on the Financial Statements 
 
We have audited the financial statements of the South Village Community Development District 
as of and for the year ended September 30, 2019, and have issued our report thereon dated 
August 26, 2020. 
 
Auditor’s Responsibility 
 
We conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United 
States; the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing 
Standards, issued by the Comptroller General of the United States and Chapter 10.550, Rules 
of the Florida Auditor General.   
 
Other Reporting Requirements 
 
We have issued our Independent Auditor’s Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting 
and on Compliance and Other Matters Based on an Audit of Financial Statements Performed in 
Accordance with Government Auditing Standards and our Independent Auditor’s Report on an 
examination conducted in accordance with AICPA Professionals Standards, AT-C Section 315, 
regarding compliance requirements in accordance with Chapter 10.550, Rules of the Auditor 
General.  Disclosures in those reports, which are dated August 26, 2020, should be considered 
in conjunction with this management letter. 
 
Prior Audit Findings 
 
Section 10.554(1)(i)1., Rules of the Auditor General, requires that we determine whether or not 
corrective actions have been taken to address findings and recommendations made in the 
preceding financial audit report.  There were no findings or recommendations in the preceding 
audit. 
 
Financial Condition and Management 
 
Section 10.554(1)(i)5.a. and 10.556(7), Rules of the Auditor General, require us to apply 
appropriate procedures and communicate the results of our determination as to whether or not 
South Village Community Development District has met one or more  of the conditions 
described in Section 218.503(1), Florida Statutes, and to identify the specific conditions met.  In 
connection with our audit, we determined that South Village Community Development District 
did not meet any of the conditions described in Section 218.503(1) Florida Statutes.  
 
 
 
 
 



- 41 - 
 

To the Board of Supervisors 
South Village Community Development District 
 
 
Pursuant to Sections 10.554(1)(i)5.c. and 10.556(8), Rules of the Auditor General, we applied 
financial condition assessment procedures for South Village Community Development District.  
It is management’s responsibility to monitor the South Village Community Development 
District’s financial condition; our financial condition assessment was based in part on the 
representations made by management and the review of the financial information provided by 
the same as of September 30, 2019.  
 
Section 10.554(1)(i)2., Rules of the Auditor General, requires that we communicate any 
recommendations to improve financial management.  In connection with our audit, we did not 
have any such recommendations. 
 
Additional Matters 
 
Section 10.554(1)(i)3., Rules of the Auditor General, requires us to communicate 
noncompliance with provisions of contracts or grant agreements, or abuse, that have occurred, 
or are likely to have occurred, that have an effect on the financial statements that is less than 
material but warrants the attention of those charged with governance.  In connection with our 
audit, we did note the following finding. 
 
Finding 19-01 
 
Finding: The District did not submit the completed annual financial report by June 30, 2020 as 
required by Section 218.32 (d) Florida Statutes and Chapter 10.558 (3) Rules of the Auditor 
General. 
 
Management Response: The special revenue and enterprise funds are maintained by a different 
management company and this causes delays in the year-end and audit processes. 
 
Purpose of this Letter 
 
Our management letter is intended solely for the information and use of the Legislative Auditing 
Committee, members of the Florida Senate and the Florida House of Representatives, the 
Florida Auditor General, Federal and other granting agencies, the Board of Supervisors, and 
applicable management, and is not intended to be and should not be used by anyone other than 
these specified parties. 
 
 
 
 
 
Berger, Toombs, Elam, Gaines & Frank 
Certified Public Accountants PL 
Fort Pierce, Florida 
 
August 26, 2020 

audit
BTEGF



 
 
 
 
 
 

- 42 - 

INDEPENDENT ACCOUNTANT’S REPORT/COMPLIANCE 
WITH SECTION 218.415, FLORIDA STATUTES 

 
 
 
To the Board of Supervisors 
South Village Community Development District 
Clay County, Florida 
 
 
We have examined South Village Community Development District's compliance with Section 
218.415, Florida Statutes during the year ended September 30, 2019. Management is 
responsible for South Village Community Development District’s compliance with those 
requirements. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on South Village Community 
Development District’s compliance based on our examination. 
 
Our examination was conducted in accordance with attestation standards established by the 
American Institute of Certified Public Accountants and, accordingly, included examining, on a 
test basis, evidence about South Village Community Development District’s compliance with 
those requirements and performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the 
circumstances. We believe that our examination provides a reasonable basis for our opinion. 
Our examination does not provide a legal determination on South Village Community 
Development District’s compliance with the specified requirements. 
 
In our opinion, South Village Community Development District complied, in all material respects, 
with the aforementioned requirements during the year ended September 30, 2019. 
 
 
 
 
 
Berger, Toombs, Elam, Gaines & Frank 
Certified Public Accountants PL 
Fort Pierce, Florida 
 
August 26, 2020 

audit
BTEGF



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

NINTH ORDER OF BUSINESS 
  



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 

A. 



South Village Community Development District 
Operations Report 

 
Date:  August 2020 

To:  SVCDD, BOARD OF SUPERVISORS 

From:  Director of Operations, General Manager, Golf, F&B, Tennis  

Re:  Monthly Operations Report 

Amenity Centers: 

1. Aquatic Center/Kids Club/Cafe 
a. All team members have been actively engaged sanitizing all areas of the pool deck and buildings 

prior to opening and after we close.  We have a full time dedicated sanitizer throughout the day. 
b. Pool traffic has been low overall to capacity limit of 275 total. 
c. Health Department has inspected the Swim Facilities.  Positive results without issue.  Karen and 

aquatics staff has done a great job maintaining the waters and deck area. 
d. Café/store has been doing good business with the limited amount of residents coming to the Swim 

Park.  Revenues remain below budget. The Cabana bar remains closed with the executive order. 
e. Performed maintenance on playground.  Working with Southern Recreation on proposals to bring to 

the October meeting for replacement of playground structure. 
f. Swim Park hours will return to close time of 7pm after Labor Day. 

 
2. Athletic Center 
 a.  We have reopened the upstairs workout facility without issue.  Staff has been sanitizing on the hour 
throughout the day and residents have been taking responsibility for their duty in cleaning the equipment 
and keeping their distance from one another. 

b.  Fitness classes are being held virtually.. 
c.  Basketball court is being utilized for play.  Guests are still prohibited keeping the space manageable. 
d.  Pickleball has started back with limited play, TJ is leading the program.  
e.  Southeast fitness has ordered the rower tank and scheduled to install today 8/25.  Warranty does not 
cover it. 

 
3. Activities 

a.  Most all organized activities have been suspended for the month of August due to Covid-19. 
b.  Karen hosted a small group for a painting class and was a great success. 
b.  Rachael has been in contact with new residents and providing necessary documents for membership.  
25 new resident households have met with Rachael for member setup. 
c.  On average, 1456 email blasts continue to go out every week using the website services.  Special 
emails and communications have gone out regarding facility openings and modified operations due to 
Covid-19 concerns and restrictions. 
d.  Viewpoint Security will offer Golf Cart Safety and Info Class and can offer a “Town Hall” crime and 
safety event featuring Ken Jefferson.  Plan is to conduct bi-annually. Proposal being prepared. 

   
4. Tennis  

a.  Remaining safe - All baskets, chairs, tables and other touch points sanitized multiple times a day. 
b.  New challenger group programming has started on 8/24 with 8 players enrolled. 
c.  Senior tennis clinics beginning September 2nd on Wednesday mornings at 10am. 
e.  Club championship starting in October. 



f.  Full fiscal year 21 tennis programming calendar of events is being finalized.  We are looking forward 
to many new and exciting socials, clinics and events. 

g.  Resurfacing four courts this week and next. 
h.  Tennis and management staff focusing on revamping the lobby area into a tennis pro-shop to offer 

clothing, accessories, equipment and more drink and snack options.   

     Golf and Clubhouse Operations: 

Golf Operations 
a. A busy month of August with 4800 rounds. 
b. Weekly member groups still had a great turnout in August. 1200 member rounds. 
c. Range activity was very good over the past month with 1,450 users and $4,400 in revenue.  
d. Sales in the golf shop were busier this month with $13,500 in sales.  
e. We are currently running a membership promotion. We have added 4 new memberships 
f. The golf professional staff has wrapped up the 2020 Club Championship. We had 50 players compete 
in four different flights. Richard Ames won the Club Championship. Men’s Flight winner was Junius 
Hill, Senior flight winner was Randy Simmons, and Women’s Champion is Erin Williams.  

 
Clubhouse F&B 

a. We have adjusted to more normal operations concerning hours and schedules, and have returned to a 
more normal operation, with the Sanitizing remaining in place for covid-19. 

b. Golf’s business remains strong, as does its impact om F&B 
c. We had solid results against the plan in July. The lack of our ability to do outside events however, do 

continue limit our sales potential. Trivia nights remain on hold, as we await the pandemic impacts to 
lessen. However, we have been able to do some very small family type events. 

d. The club championship was well received, with the round one steak lunch, as well as, the comfort 
areas we provided on the first and tenth tee box.  

e. The staffing continues to be “tweaked’, and the addition of a couple of new staff members seem to be 
going well.   

f. We are optimistic about continuing to achieve positive results, a look forward to returning fully to 
normal operations, without restriction. 

  
Golf Course Maintenance 

a. – Brad Stephens was hires as new Superintendent on July 20th. 8+ years’ experience as a Troon Super 
at WGVR 
- New Assistant Super Carl Whitney from The Palencia Club hired and on board starting August 3rd  

b. Programs for August 
- Completed an irrigation audit. Identified several overgrown heads. Adjusted run times of some stations 
to improve efficiency.       
- Sprayed insecticide for cutworms and mole crickets, all bad areas are prior conditions 
    -  Treated many areas with application of Goose/Crabgrass, prior condition  
    -  Sprayed herbicides for broadleaf weeds, nutsedge and Bahia, prior condition  
    -   Applied growth regulator on tees and fairways to improve playing quality                                                               

c. Repaired mainline breaks on #1 and #5. The break on #1 was caused by a lightning strike. #5 
was a stress fracture in the pipe. 

d. Replaced or repaired irrigation heads on 10, 12, 14 and 18. Algae in the irrigation lake from 
stagnation is making its way into irrigation heads causing leaks. A diffuser to circulate the water 
would improve water quality. 

e. Projects 
-Enlarged coquina area on #18 
-Redo of area on both side of #17 Tee 



- New coquina on backside of #15 green 
-Cleaned up the members practice area 
-New pine straw down in a few areas around the course 
-Blowing off all grass clippings after mowing 
-Trimmed around all trees all 18-holes 
-Took care of two major irrigation repairs #1 and #5, big projects! 
-Worked hard to get all bunker properly maintained and consistent 
-Reviewed all equipment for needs moving forward 
-Changed mowing practices for tees and fairways, now Mon-Wed-Fri based on clippings 

                        -Ordered new chemicals needed to address various issues on the golf course 
 

Common Areas & Retention Ponds: 
1. All lakes have been treated and inspected by the Lake Doctors. Written reports are submitted after each 

treatment. Algae has been cyclical in many ponds but overall health has been good and steady.  The 
Lake doctors continue to be responsive to our requests for additional treatments and adding dye where 
beneficial. 

2. Landscape LED lighting replacements continue in the coming months for all facilities. 
3. The waterfall vault has not changed and the suction baskets continue to be cleaned about once a month.  
4. Webwatchdogs installed new camera stations in PH5 & 6.  Upgraded existing station by amenities 

shows major improvement.  Electrical permits received and have applied to have new meter service.  
Clay electric and T&M electric will pull new cabling and hookups for cameras. 

5. District engineer is has put bid out for weir repair and will present at September CDD Meeting. 
6. Construction of restroom building at PH 6 lake park has begun. Foundation has been poured and block 

walls and roof truss to follow.  Concrete work will begin for site elements at lake and pocket parks in 
early September.  Irrigation work at lake park scheduled for 2nd week of September. 

7. Comcast and At&t have moved their boxes from where the sidewalk on Autumn Pines should be.  
Working with district engineer to hopefully get section poured at no cost, if not – seeking HOA 
funding. 

8. Will be pouring a sidewalk section to complete and end into the cul-de-sac on Crooked Oak Dr. 
9. Henshaw’s Tree Service removed numerous dead trees from the golf course and ground down the 

stumps.   

Landscaping: 

1. Director of Operations confers with Tree Amigos Landscape on a weekly basis. Grounds are being 
maintained per the contract. 

2. Maintenance services provided to Eagle Landing by Tree Amigos  
August 1st thru August 31st. 

a. Ongoing maintenance per schedule for mowing and detail operations. 
b. August irrigation inspection and repairs completed the week of 8/17. With the rainfall we have 

had the last couple of weeks, the irrigation has been turned off.  We will continue to watch 
rainfall and return to normal operations when needed. 

c. Applied post-emergent herbicide to all turf areas for weeds. 
d. Detailed and trimmed all plant material on Parkway and neighborhood signs. 
e. Mowed down area at the Lake Park at Tynes. 
f. Reported leak to CCUA on reuse water line coming into Eagle Landing from Plantation Pkwy 

on entrance side by #11 Tee along curb. 
g. Completed application of Arena for chinch bugs on St. Augustine turf. 

Misc: 
         1.  Answered numerous phone calls, emails and visits from residents, contractors, vendors and other 
persons with inquiries.  The subjects included, golf course maintenance, easement encroachments, alligators, 



lake maintenance, directions, repairs, drainage (both County and CDD owned), dead trees, vandalism, security, 
etc 
 2.  Facilities are inspected on a weekly basis 
 3.  The parks and playgrounds are inspected weekly and required repairs are made. 
 4.  Daily trash pickup along parkway, park sites and common areas. 
 5.  Amenity and common area cameras reviewed frequently; recordings provided to CCSO. 

Questions/Comments:  

Should you have any questions or comments regarding the above information, please feel free to contact 
Matt Biagetti at matthew.biagetti@honoursgolf.com , 904-637-0666. 



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

TWELFTH ORDER OF BUSINESS 
  



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 

A. 



























 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 

B. 





 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 

C. 
















































































	Board Letter
	Agenda
	III.	Approval of Minutes of the August 4, 2020 Meeting
	V. B. Consideration of Requisitions
	VII.	Ratification of Agreement for Security Patrol Services
	VIII. Acceptance of Fiscal Year 2019 Audit Report
	IX. A. General Manager - Report
	XII. A.		Balance Sheet as of July 31, 2020 and Statement of Revenues and Expenses for the Period Ending July 31, 2020
	B.	Assessment Receipt Schedule
	C.	Approval of Check Register 



